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Introduction
This is the third edition of the CFA Institute Corporate Governance Manual, with the 
first having been published in 2005 and the second in 2009. Much has changed in the 
corporate governance landscape in that time. In 2005, when CFA Institute published 
the first edition of this manual, including corporate governance factors in investment 
analysis was a novel concept to many. Today, in most instances, it is an accepted part of 
investment analysis. Corporate governance readings entered the CFA® Program cur-
riculum about the same time as our first Corporate Governance Manual. The inclusion of 
corporate governance training in business school curricula and the availability of gover-
nance have both increased substantially since that time.

An increased understanding of the importance of corporate governance has not meant the 
end of corporate governance scandals. When we first published the Corporate Governance 
Manual, governance failures at Enron Corporation, Worldcom, Parmalat SpA, and others 
were fresh in our minds. The second edition of the manual was published in the wake of 
the financial crisis and governance breakdowns at Bear Stearns Companies Inc., Lehman 
Brothers Holdings Inc., Northern Rock, and others. More recently, we have witnessed 
corporate governance breakdowns at Volkswagen, Petrobras (Petróleo Brasileiro S.A.), 
and Samsung, to highlight a few of the higher profile governance failures. Corporate gov-
ernance problems clearly will remain a challenge that investors need to understand and 
evaluate to gain a fuller understanding of the companies in which they invest.1

Governance has continued to evolve, and a number of issues have come forward since the sec-
ond edition of this manual in 2009 that have spurred us to update this resource for investors.

■	 Adoption of Stewardship Codes. Many markets have adopted investor stewardship 
codes to promote better governance among investors and to promote best practices in 
engagement with investors.2

1 See these and other publications from CFA Institute related to corporate governance issues at  
www.cfainstitute.org: The Compensation of Senior Executives at Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors 
(Charlottesville, VA: CFA Institute, December 2007), https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-
positions/compensation-of-senior-executives-at-listed-companies; Environmental, Social, and Governance 
Factors at Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors (Charlottesville, VA: CFA Institute, May 2008), https://
www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-factors-at-listed-
companies; and Shareowner Rights across the Markets: Individual Reports for 28 Different Markets (Charlottesville, 
VA: CFA Institute, 2013), https://www.arx.cfa/up/post/1129/1307-Shareowner-Rights-across-the-Markets-
Individual-Reports-for-28-Different-Markets-Introduction.pdf.
2 See a complete list of government-mandated corporate governance codes in Appendix A and stewardship codes 
in Appendix B.

http://www.cfainstitute.org/
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/compensation-of-senior-executives-at-listed-companies
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/compensation-of-senior-executives-at-listed-companies
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-factors-at-listed-companies
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-factors-at-listed-companies
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-factors-at-listed-companies
https://www.arx.cfa/up/post/1129/1307-Shareowner-Rights-across-the-Markets-Individual-Reports-for-28-Different-Markets-Introduction.pdf
https://www.arx.cfa/up/post/1129/1307-Shareowner-Rights-across-the-Markets-Individual-Reports-for-28-Different-Markets-Introduction.pdf
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■	 Increased Engagement. Levels of engagement have increased between institutional 
investors and investors on governance issues.

■	 Proxy Access. Proxy access was introduced in the United States in 2015 when investors 
began filing more shareowner proposals seeking access to the corporate proxy. This led to 
many companies engaging with investors to allow investors to nominate one or two direc-
tors to the proxy ballot if the investors owned 3% of the company’s shares for three years.

■	 Move toward Dual-Class Shares. The number of markets allowing companies to devi-
ate from the one-share-one-vote standard—considered a best practice in governance 
 circles—has increased. France, Hong Kong, and Singapore have passed laws or 
changed listing standards that have introduced dual-class shares, and a growing num-
ber of tech companies in the United States have adopted dual-class structures. Index 
providers have taken a stand, however, saying that they will limit the ability of dual-
class companies to be included in some of their indices.

■	 Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Integration. What started with corpo-
rate governance has grown to include environmental and social factors as nonfinancial 
factors investors need to consider the whole story of the companies in which they 
invest. In 2015, CFA Institute published Environmental, Social, and Governance Issues 
in Investing: A Guide for Investment Professionals, and so we will not delve deeply into 
ESG in this manual, but we will speak occasionally to this topic.

■	 Stakeholder Model of Corporate Governance. For decades, a shareowner-centric model 
dominated investment thinking, with the focus being on what duty boards and com-
panies owe their shareowners. In recent years, the stakeholder model in which boards 
and management must consider their duty to other stakeholders, and to society at 
large, in their corporate decision making has begun to challenge shareowner primacy. 
This focus also feeds into the increased consideration of ESG issues, as many long-
term nonfinancial issues that may fall under ESG factors now are being measured and 
managed by corporations due to investor interest.

This manual does not provide a set of best practices, nor does it take a position on the best 
corporate governance structures for investors. Instead, its purpose is to alert investors to 
the primary corporate governance issues and risks affecting companies and to highlight 
some of the factors investors should consider when making investment decisions.

Issuers of financial securities also may find this manual to be a useful reference tool for deter-
mining which corporate governance issues are important to investors. We hope that this 
manual will raise awareness of the governance standards within the investment community.

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-issues-in-investing-a-guide-for-investment-professionals
https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/environmental-social-and-governance-issues-in-investing-a-guide-for-investment-professionals
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Introduction

The Importance of Corporate Governance  
to Investors

The most effective and productive corporate governance structures rely on active and 
prudent shareowner engagement. Benjamin Graham and David Dodd recognized the 
direct correlation between active ownership and strong governance as early as the 1930s, 
advising that

The choice of a common stock is a single act, its ownership is a continuing process. Certainly 
there is just as much reason to exercise care and judgment in being a shareholder as in 
becoming one.3

The link between corporate governance and performance has been well established 
through the years. (Details for accessing some of these studies are in Appendix C.) 

Investors in both developed and developing markets have historically placed corporate 
governance premiums on companies with low corporate governance–related risks and cor-
porate governance discounts on companies with poor governance. Policies and practices 
like opaque or limited disclosure, unqualified boards, limited shareowner rights, poor 
executive pay practices, and other governance red flags are seen by investors and factored 
into their analysis.

Markets have shown that good corporate governance leads to better results for companies, 
stakeholders, and investors by avoiding companies with the most questionable corporate gov-
ernance practices. Corporate governance, therefore, is a factor that investors cannot ignore 
and should consider when seeking the best possible results for themselves and their clients.

Definitions
In this manual, we use the definitions provided below.

Corporate Governance
Corporate governance is the system of internal controls and procedures by which indi-
vidual companies are managed. It provides a framework that defines the rights, roles, 
and responsibilities of various groups—including management, the board, controlling  
shareowners, and minority or noncontrolling shareowners—within an organization.

3 Benjamin Graham and David Dodd, Security Analysis, 6th ed. (New York: McGraw Hill, 2009):540.
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At its core, corporate governance is the arrangement of checks, balances, and incentives 
a company needs to minimize and manage the conflicting interests between insiders and 
external shareowners and stakeholders. Its purpose is to prevent one group from expropri-
ating the cash flows and assets of one or more other groups and to provide a structure that 
ensures the long-term viability of the organization.

In general, good corporate governance practices seek to ensure that

■	 board members act in the best interests of shareowners, although increasingly, good 
corporate governance is tied to the interests of a broader stakeholder group (e.g., labor 
groups, society at large); over the long-term, the interests of shareowners and stake-
holders converge;

■	 the company acts in a lawful and ethical manner in its dealings with all stakeholders 
and their representatives;

■	 all shareowners have a right to participate in the governance of the company and 
receive fair treatment from the board and management, and all rights of shareowners 
and other stakeholders are clearly delineated and communicated;

■	 the board and its committees are structured to act independently from management 
and other influential groups, and to act in the best interest of the corporation; 

■	 appropriate controls and procedures are in place to cover management’s activities in 
running the day-to-day operations of the company; and

■	 the company’s governance activities, as well as its operating and financial activities, 
are consistently reported to shareowners, market participants, and stakeholders in a 
fair, accurate, timely, reliable, relevant, complete, and verifiable manner.

How well a company achieves these goals depends in large part on (1) the adequacy of 
the company’s corporate governance structure and (2) the strength of the shareowner’s 
voice in corporate governance matters through shareowner voting rights. This manual 
focuses on these two areas as a means to evaluate the corporate governance practices of 
companies.

Independence
A number of national corporate governance codes and stock exchange–based rules4 
prescribe factors to consider when determining the independence of board and board 
committee members. Each company, each code of corporate governance, and each 

4 See Appendix A for a list of national and stock exchange–based governance codes.

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
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market should have its own definition of independence, so that investors can define 
independence and its importance for themselves. Investors should understand whether 
a local standard of independence is a high standard or whether it sets a low bar, as 
well as whether a director can meet a high standard for independence. Generally, to be 
considered independent, a board member must not have a material business or other 
relationship with

■	 the company or its subsidiaries or members of its group, including former employees 
and executives and their family members;

■	 individuals, groups, or other entities that can exert significant influence on the compa-
ny’s management, such as controlling individuals, controlling families, or governments;

■	 executive managers, including family members;

■	 company advisers (including external auditors) and their families; and

■	 any entity that has a cross-directorship relationship with the company.

Length of service on the board: In some jurisdictions, a board member is no longer con-
sidered independent of company management after many years of board service. 
Shareowners need to understand how other relationships a director may have with a 
company may compromise his or her independence. Shareowners should understand 
whether directors 

■	 have recently had material business relationships with a company, or

■	 represent a company with substantial voting rights in the company in question.

Board Members
The term “board member” (in some jurisdictions, “director” is used) in this manual refers 
to all individuals who sit on the board (see the following definitions), including executive 
board members, independent board members, and nonindependent board members.

Executive Board Members
This term refers to the members of executive management. In a unitary board (or commit-
tee system), executive board members also may serve as members of the board. In a two-
tiered board, these individuals are part of only the management board. These individuals 
are not considered independent.



WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG6

The Corporate Governance of Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors

Independent Board Members
An independent board member is an individual who meets the qualifications listed under 
the definition provided earlier for independence.

Nonindependent Board Members
Individuals in this category may represent interests that conflict with those of the majority 
of shareowners. This category may include board members affiliated with individuals or 
entities that have control over management, those who are part of a cross-directorship 
arrangement with another listed company, or those who are representatives of labor 
organizations.

Shareowners should be cognizant of any individual, government entity, or organization 
that may qualify as a “shadow director”—namely, any holder of a controlling share of the 
company who is not a named director but who has a great deal of influence over manage-
ment and the board. These individuals may be large stakeholders, sovereign wealth funds, 
governments, or other interested parties who may have motivations that are different from 
those of shareowners or the company.

Board
The term “board” in this manual refers to a “supervisory” type of board (or “board of corpo-
rate auditors” in Japan) in countries with a two-tiered board structure. In countries that use 
a unitary board, the term refers to the board of directors. In most jurisdictions, corporate 
structures take the form of one or the other of these types, but in some countries, such as 
France and Japan, companies have the option of choosing which of the two structures to use.

Two-Tiered (Dual) Board
Common in some parts of Europe—including Germany, the Netherlands, Austria, and 
Denmark—the two-tiered board structure has two elements, the management board and 
the supervisory board.

Management Board
The management board consists exclusively of executive managers. It is charged, in con-
sultation with the supervisory board, with running the company on a daily basis and set-
ting the corporate strategy for the company. Its members do not sit on the company’s 
supervisory board.

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
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Supervisory Board
The supervisory board is charged with overseeing and advising the company’s manage-
ment board.

Corporate Auditors System
In Japan, the two-tiered board structure is called the “corporate auditors system” and is used 
by most large Japanese companies. The system includes (1) directors who are elected by share-
owners and are responsible for business decisions, and (2) a board composed of corporate audi-
tors, including at least one full-time corporate auditor. At least half of the members of the 
board of corporate auditors must be outside auditors. These corporate auditors are elected sepa-
rately by shareowners and are charged with auditing the performance of the board.

Unitary Board
In a unitary board structure, the board may include executive, nonexecutive, and independent 
board members. The board oversees and advises management and helps set corporate strat-
egy, although in many jurisdictions, it does not engage in corporate decision making except 
in such matters as mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, and sale of the company. Jurisdictions 
increasingly require independent board members to constitute at least a majority of the board.

Committee System
The committee system is most often used to delegate specific tasks to committees of the 
board, such as audit, nominations, and compensation committees—all of which must 
have at least three members. A majority of the members must be either independent 
board members or nonexecutive board members. Committees are asked to look at par-
ticular matters in more detail than the whole board, but responsibility for decision making 
remains with the board as a whole.

Company
The term “company” as used here is the corporate organization in which the shareowners 
have an ownership position and in which investors are considering an investment.

Investors
This term refers to all individuals or institutions considering investment opportunities in 
shares and other securities of the company.
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Shareowners
The term “shareowners,” unlike the term “investors,” refers only to those individuals, 
institutions, or entities that own shares of common or ordinary stock in the company in 
question.5

Summary of Corporate Governance Considerations

The Board
Investors and shareowners should

■	 determine whether a company’s board has, at a minimum, a majority of independent 
board members;

■	 determine whether board members have the qualifications the company needs for the 
challenges it faces now and will face in the future;

■	 determine whether the board and its committees have budgetary authority to hire 
independent third-party consultants without having to receive approval from 
management;

■	 determine whether all board members are elected annually or whether the company 
has adopted an election process that staggers board member elections;

■	 investigate whether the company engages in outside business relationships (related-
party transactions) with management, board members, or individuals associated with 
management or board members for goods and services on behalf of the company;

■	 determine whether the board has established an audit committee composed of inde-
pendent board members, including those with recent and relevant experience in 
finance and accounting, to oversee the audit of the company’s financial reports;

■	 determine whether the company has a committee of independent board members 
charged with setting executive remuneration and compensation;

■	 determine whether the company has a nominations committee of independent board 
members that is responsible for nominating board members;

5 We do not include preferred shareholders here because, generally, preferred shareholders do not have 
voting rights. They often have greater dividend rights than normal shareowners. 

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
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■	 determine whether the board has other committees that are responsible for overseeing 
management’s activities in select areas, such as corporate governance, mergers and 
acquisitions (M&A), legal matters, risk management, and environmental health and 
safety issues;

■	 evaluate the communications the board has with shareowners and the ability share-
owners have to meet with the board; and

■	 determine whether the board has the diversity of background and experience that will 
bring beneficial points of view to the board.

Management
Investors and shareowners should

■	 determine whether the company has adopted a code of ethics and whether the com-
pany’s actions indicate a commitment to an appropriate ethical framework;

■	 determine whether the company permits insiders (management or board members) or 
their family members to use company assets for personal reasons;

■	 analyze both the amounts paid to key executives for managing the company’s affairs 
and the manner in which compensation is provided to determine whether the com-
pensation paid to the company’s executives (1) is commensurate with the executives’ 
responsibilities and performance, (2) provides appropriate incentives, and (3) is aligned 
with the company’s corporate culture and strategy;

■	 inquire into the size, purpose, means of financing, and duration of share-repurchase 
programs and price-stabilization efforts;

■	 evaluate the level of communications that management has with shareowners and the 
ability shareowners have to meet with the management;

■	 determine whether management has adequately communicated its long-term strategic 

plans to investors, shareowners, and stakeholders;

■	 determine whether the incentive structures of management are aligned with the inter-
ests of the company and are tied to the execution of the long-term strategic plan, or 
whether they may encourage undue risk-taking that may be harmful to the interests 
of the company;
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■	 determine whether management adequately understands and communicates how 
material nonfinancial key performance indicators and the environmental, social, 
and governance–related aspects, risks, and opportunities are being handled by the  
company; and

■	 determine whether the company communicates and discloses its financial and nonfi-
nancial performance in a consistent and transparent manner.

Shareowner Rights
Investors and shareowners should

■	 examine the company’s ownership structure to determine whether it has different classes 
of shares that separate the voting rights of those shares from their economic value;

■	 determine whether the company permits shareowners to vote their shares before 
scheduled meetings of shareowners regardless of whether the shareowners are able to 
attend the meetings in person;

■	 determine whether shareowners are able to cast confidential votes;

■	 determine whether shareowners are allowed to cast the cumulative number of votes 
allotted to their shares for one or a limited number of board nominees (“cumulative 
voting”);

■	 determine whether shareowners have the right to approve changes to corporate 
structures and policies that may alter the relationship between shareowners and the 
company;

■	 determine whether the board must receive shareowner approval for important deci-
sions, such as adoption of a poison pill and some merger agreements, and whether a 
simple-majority or super-majority vote is required;

■	 determine whether shareowners are allowed to elect directors according to a “majority 
voting” standard;

■	 determine whether shareowners have either a binding or advisory “say on pay” con-
cerning management remuneration;

■	 determine whether shareowners enjoy preemption rights that guard against dilutive 
instruments, such as new share issuances or convertible securities;

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
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■	 determine whether and in what circumstances shareowners are permitted to recom-
mend director nominees to the board or place their own nominees on the proxy ballot;

■	 determine whether and in what circumstances shareowners may submit proposals for 
consideration at the company’s annual general meeting;

■	 determine whether the board and management are required to implement proposals 
that shareowners approve;

■	 determine whether the corporate governance code and other legal statutes of the 
jurisdiction in which the company is headquartered permit shareowners to take legal 
action or seek regulatory action to protect and enforce their ownership rights;

■	 carefully evaluate the structure of an existing or proposed takeover defense mecha-
nism and analyze how it could affect the value of shares in a normal market environ-
ment and in the event of a takeover bid; and

■	 understand that the actions of other shareowners are governance issues they need to 
consider with the same degree of interest as they do the actions of the board and 
management.
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The Board
Board members have a duty to make decisions based on what ultimately is best for the 
long-term interests of the company and shareowners. Much discussion in recent years 
has focused on the need for boards and management to balance the short-term operations 
of a company with a long-term sustainable strategic outlook.6 Although shareowners 
with a short holding period may indeed be interested in corporate governance, long-term 
shareowners (those who hold shares for years) are more likely to incorporate corporate 
governance factors into their investment analyses. The reason is that governance aspects 
often affect company value over a long timeframe. The board is responsible for the overall 
strategy of a company and should consider that the company’s core purpose, risks and 
opportunities, strategy, business model, performance, and sustainable development are 
part of the value creation process. Many shareowners also are interested in whether the 
board ensures that the company promotes responsible corporate citizenship. To act in 
the best interests of the company and shareowners, board members need a combination 
of four things: independence, experience, resources, and accurate information about the 
company’s financial and operating position.

1.  Independence. A board should be composed of at least a majority of independent board 
members with the autonomy to act independently from the management and other 
special interests. Rather than simply voting with management, board members should 
bring with them a commitment to take an unbiased approach in making decisions 
that will benefit the company, shareowners, and stakeholders.

2.  Experience. Board members who have appropriate experience, skills, and expertise rel-
evant to the company’s business are best able to evaluate what is in the best interests of 
the company and its shareowners. Depending on the nature of the business, special-
ized expertise by at least some board members may be required.

3.  Resources. Internal mechanisms are needed to support the independent work of the 
board. Such mechanisms include the authority to hire the external auditor and other 
outside consultants without management’s intervention or approval. This mechanism 
alone provides the board with the ability to obtain expert help in specialized areas; 
enables it to circumvent potential areas of conflict with management; and overall, 
preserves the integrity of the board’s independent oversight function.

6 See Dean Krehmeyer, Matt Orsagh, and Kurt Schacht, Breaking the Short-Term Cycle (Charlottesville, 
VA: CFA Institute, July 2006), https://www.cfainstitute.org/en/advocacy/policy-positions/breaking- 
the-short-term-cycle.

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG
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4.  Accurate Information. Board members must have access to complete and accurate infor-
mation about the financial position of the company and its underlying value drivers to 
enable them to steer the company toward its best long-term interests. 

All of these points and how investors can evaluate them are discussed in more detail in 
the following sections.

Board Independence
Investors should determine whether the majority of a company’s board is composed of 
independent board members.

What Is Independence?
Independence, as it relates to board members, refers to the degree to which they are not 
biased or otherwise controlled by company management, other groups who exert con-
trol over management, or the shareowners. Factors to consider in determining whether a 
board member meets this definition are provided in the section “Definitions.”

Implications for Investors
A board that is not predominantly independent, or a committee that is not completely 
independent, may be more likely than independent individuals to make decisions that 
unfairly or improperly benefit the interests of management, those who have influence over 
management, or groups of shareowners. These decisions also may be detrimental to the 
long-term interests of the company.

Things to Consider
Investors should determine whether

■	 independent board members constitute, at a minimum, a majority of the board. A 
board with this makeup is more likely to limit undue influence of management and 
shareowners over the affairs of the board;

■	 independent board members are meeting regularly without management or executive 
board members present—ideally at least annually—and routinely reporting on their 
activities to shareowners. Such meetings permit board members to discuss issues fac-
ing the company without influence from executive board members;

The Board
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■	 the board chair also holds the title of chief executive. Combining these two posi-
tions may give undue influence to executive board members and impair the ability 
and willingness of board members to exercise their independent judgment. Several 
national corporate governance codes require the separation of these two positions. 
Many jurisdictions consider the separation of the chair and CEO positions a best 
practice because it ensures that the board agenda is set by an independent voice unin-
fluenced by the CEO;

■	 independent board members have a lead member if the board chair is not indepen-
dent. Some companies have kept the combined chair–CEO format but have named a 
“lead independent director” as a compromise. In such cases, shareowners must deter-
mine whether the lead director can set or influence the board agenda and is truly an 
independent spokesperson for shareowners;

■	 the board chair is a former chief executive of the company. If so, this arrange-
ment could impair the board’s ability to act independently of undue management 
inf luence and in the best interests of the company. Such a situation also increases 
the risk that the chair may hamper efforts to undo the mistakes made as chief 
executive; and

■	 members of the board are aligned with a company supplier or customer or are aligned 
with a manager or adviser to the company’s share option or pension plan. In some 
cases, a company with a large number of suppliers, customers, and advisers may need 
to nominate individuals to the board who are aligned with these entities to ensure 
that it has the expertise it needs to make reasoned decisions. In such instance, inves-
tors should determine whether such board members must recuse themselves on issues 
that may create a conflict.

Where to find information about the independence of the board and its committees:

In most jurisdictions, companies disclose the names, credentials, and company affiliations 
of existing board members, either in their annual reports or in their annual proxy state-
ments to shareowners. Companies often devote a special section in their annual reports to 
a discussion of the issues confronted by the board and board committees during the previ-
ous year. In addition, the websites of many listed companies provide information about 
board member independence.

Some specialty research providers focus exclusively on corporate governance issues 
and are good sources for such information as director independence and shareowner 
rights.
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Board Member Qualifications 
Investors should determine whether board members have the necessary qualifications to 
help the company face its challenges.

Implications for Investors
Investors should assess whether individual board members have the knowledge, skills, 
and experience required to advise management in light of the particularities of the com-
pany, its businesses, and the competitive environment. Board members who lack the 
skills, knowledge, or expertise to conduct a meaningful review of the company’s activities 
are more likely to defer to management when making decisions. Such reliance on man-
agement threatens the duty of board members to consider the interests of the company 
and its shareowners. Moreover, having board members who are not capable of in-depth 
evaluation of the issues affecting the company’s business could threaten the company’s 
overall performance. Diversity among board members in terms of gender, educational 
background, and professional qualifications also may promote constructive debate in the 
boardroom (see the section “Nominations Committee”). 

The board is responsible for the company’s strategy and should consider that the com-
pany’s core purpose, risks and opportunities, strategy, business model, performance, and 
sustainable development are part of the value creation process. 

Things to Consider
Among the factors investors should consider when analyzing board members’ qualifi-
cations7 are whether the board members

■	 	are able to make informed and independent decisions about the company’s future with 
regard to finance, accounting, strategy, business, and law;

■	 	are able to act with care and competence as a result of relevant expertise or  
understanding of

o	 	the principal technologies, products, or services offered in the company’s business;

o	 	financial operations;

7 The factors to consider are drawn from the CFA Institute textbook for the CFA® Program titled Corporate 
Finance.
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o	 	legal matters;

o	 	accounting;

o	 	auditing;

o	 	strategic planning; and

o	 	the risks (financial risks, operational risks, and reputational risks) that the com-
pany assumes as part of its business operations; 

■	 have made public statements that demonstrate their ethical perspectives;

■	 have experience serving on other boards, particularly with companies known for hav-
ing good corporate governance practices;

■	 regularly attend board and committee meetings;

■	 have committed to the needs of the company—for example, by avoiding situations 
or businesses that could create a conflict of interest with the position as a board 
member; and

■	 have the background, expertise, skills, and knowledge in specific areas aligned with 
the company’s mid-and long-term strategic objectives.

Investors should be cautious of whether board members

■	 have faced legal or regulatory problems as a result of working for or serving on the 
board or management of other companies or organizations, in positions occupied as a 
public official or public authority, or in a political office;

■	 serve on an excessive or unreasonable number of boards for other companies, which 
may constrain the time needed to serve effectively on each board;8 or

■	 have served individually on the board for more than 10 years. Such long-term partici-
pation may enhance the individual board member’s knowledge of the company, but it 
also may cause the board member to develop a cooperative relationship with manage-
ment that could impair his or her willingness to act independently.

8 Some corporate governance codes put a limit on the number of company boards on which individuals may 
participate.
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Investors also should consider whether

■	 the board and its committees have performed peer or self-assessments and, if avail-
able, any information relating to these assessments. This review will help investors 
determine whether the board has the competence and independence to respond to the 
competitive and financial challenges facing the company;

■	 the board requires ongoing training or continuing education for directors on particu-
lar committees so that those directors may properly execute their duties. An example 
would be training in enterprise risk management or valuing derivatives for the audit 
committee of a large financial firm;

■	 the board conducts performance self-evaluations or has the authority to hire indepen-
dent third-parties to conduct such evaluations; 

■	 the number of meetings held during the financial year is adequate; 

■	 the board addresses material ESG issues in setting strategy;

■	 the board maintains a diverse constituency; 

■	 directors who depart before the end of their term provide timely explanations to 
shareowners;

■	 board meetings are conducted with an appropriate quorum; 

■	 the board has a policy on “corporate citizenship” commitments by the company;

■	 the board has historically taken a “stakeholder-inclusive” approach in which it  
balances the needs, interests, and expectations of material stakeholders in the best 
interest of the organization; and 

■	 the board is involved in evaluating the company’s technological resources, including 
safeguards against cyberattacks. 

Where to find information about the qualifications of board members:

Many listed companies post the names and qualifications of board members on their websites. 
In regions where this is not the practice, companies typically provide information about their 
board members in annual reports and, where applicable, in their annual proxy statements.

In many countries, companies report on the number of board and board committee meet-
ings, as well as attendance by individual board members, in their annual reports, on their 
websites, or, where applicable, in their annual corporate governance reports.
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Some corporate governance codes require listed companies to disclose in their annual reports 
whether they failed to comply with the codes’ provisions and why they did not comply.

Authority to Hire External Consultants
Investors should determine whether the board and its committees have budgetary 
authority to hire independent third-party consultants without management approval.

Implications for Investors
Authority to hire external consultants ensures that the board will receive specialized 
advice on technical decisions that could affect shareowner value.

Independent board members typically have limited time to devote to their board duties. 
Consequently, board members need support in gathering and analyzing the large amount 
of information relevant to managing and overseeing the company.

The board and its committees often need specialized and independent advice as they con-
sider various corporate issues and risks, such as compensation; proposed M&A; legal, 
regulatory, and financial matters; and reputational concerns. The ability to hire external 
consultants without first having to seek management’s approval provides the board with 
an independent means of receiving advice that is not influenced by management’s inter-
ests. Responsibilities for decisions taken on the advice of consultants, however, ultimately 
belong to the board.

Things to Consider
Among other issues, investors should determine whether

■	 the board hired, at relevant periods in the past, external financial consultants to help 
it consider mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, or risk management issues;

■	 the nominations committee has used external advisers to recruit qualified nominees 
for management or for the board; and

■	 the remuneration committee has hired external advisers to help determine appropriate 
compensation for key executives.
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Where to find information about the authority of the board to hire external consultants:

The three most likely places to find information relating to the board’s authority to hire 
external consultants are the corporate governance section of the company’s annual report, 
the annual corporate governance report to shareowners, and the corporate governance 
section of the company’s website.

Other possible places to find this kind of information include the company’s articles of 
organization (also known as the company charter) or bylaws, national corporate gover-
nance codes, stock exchange–mandated corporate governance requirements, and third-
party corporate governance reports.

Related-Party Transactions
Investors should investigate whether the company engages in outside business relation-
ships (related-party transactions) with management, board members, or individuals 
associated with management or board members for goods and services on behalf of the 
company.9

Reasons for Reviewing the Company’s Policies  
on Related-Party Transactions

As they also relate to board members, policies that cover related-party transactions attempt 
to ensure the independence of board members by discouraging board members from 
engaging in the following practices, among others:

■	 receiving consultancy fees for work performed on behalf of the company; 

■	 receiving finders’ fees for bringing merger, acquisition, or corporate sale partners to 
the company’s attention; and

■	 receiving fees from other sources, such as tunneling minority shareowners’ profit to 
owner shareowners’ profit via a related party transaction.

9 For more on related-party transactions in Hong Kong, see Lee Kha Loon and Abe De Ramos, 
Related-Party Transactions: Cautionary Tales for Investors in Asia (Charlottesville, VA: CFA Institute,  
January 2009), www.cfapubs.org/loi/ccb.
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Implications for Investors
Receiving personal benefits from the company for which board members are supposed to 
make independent decisions poses an inherent conflict of interest if the benefits fall out-
side the role of a board member. Limitations on such transactions—through, for example, 
either the company’s ethical code or its policies governing related-party transactions— 
reduce the likelihood that management can use company resources to sway board mem-
bers away from the company’s best interests.

Things to Consider
When reviewing a company’s policies regarding related-party transactions, investors 
should determine whether

■	 the company has a policy for reviewing and approving related-party transactions. If 
the company has such a policy, consider whether interested directors (directors with 
financial interests in the transaction) are allowed to approve such transactions;

■	 the company’s ethical code or the board’s policies and procedures limit the circum-
stances in which insiders, including board members and those associated with them, 
can accept remuneration or in-kind benefits from the company for consulting or other 
services outside the scope of their positions as board members. The intent of such 
provisions is not only to discourage actions that could compromise board members’ 
independence but also to discourage the company from entering into contracts that 
may not provide the best value to the company and its shareowners;

■	 the company has disclosed any material related-party transactions or commercial rela-
tionships with existing board members or board nominees (for a discussion of this 
issue, see the section “Board Independence”);

■	 board members or executive officers have lent, leased, or otherwise provided property 
or equipment to the company;

■	 the company has paid board members finders’ fees for their roles in acquisitions or 
other significant company transactions; and

■	 the company has provided to board members in-kind benefits or perquisites (e.g., the 
personal use of company facilities or resources, or company donations to personal 
charities).
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Where to find information about related-party transactions:

The annual reports of companies in many countries include a discussion of insider trans-
actions and fees paid to board members and controlling shareowners, which often appears 
under the heading of “Related-Party Transactions.”

In the United States and Canada, listed companies are required to provide information 
about their dealings with insiders in the annual proxy statement, which often appears 
under the heading of “Related-Party Transactions.”

Investors also should look for any disclosures of related-party transactions in the prospec-
tus of a company preceding a public offering of securities. This document should inform 
investors about transactions that permit insiders to purchase shares at a discount before an 
offering at a higher price. 

Board Member Terms and Board Composition
Investors should determine (1) whether board members are elected annually or (2) whether 
the company has adopted an election process that staggers board member elections.

Reasons for Reviewing Board Member Terms
Investors need to understand the mechanisms that provide, limit, or eliminate their ability 
to exercise their rights to vote on individual board members.

Implications for Investors
Companies that prevent shareowners from approving or rejecting board members on an 
annual basis limit shareowners’ ability to change the board’s composition when, for exam-
ple, board members fail to act on an issue of importance to shareowners and also limit 
shareowners’ ability to elect individuals with needed expertise in response to a change in 
company strategy.

Things to Consider
When reviewing a company’s policy for the election of board members, investors should 
consider whether
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■	 shareowners elect board members every year or for staggered multiple-year terms 
(producing what is known as a “staggered” or “classified” board). An annually elected 
board may provide more flexibility to nominate new board members to meet changes 
in the marketplace, if needed, than a staggered board. Staggered boards also may be 
used as antitakeover devices. Conversely, staggered boards or long-term boards may 
provide better continuity of board expertise. In Japan, shareowners of a company that 
uses a corporate auditors system elect board members for two-year terms and elect 
members of the corporate auditors board for four-year terms. Shareowners of a com-
pany using a committees system elect board members every year;

■	 the board has filled a vacancy for the remainder of a board member’s term without 
receiving shareowner approval at the next annual general meeting;

■	 the board is the appropriate size for the circumstances of the company. A large board 
may have difficulty coordinating its members’ views, be slow to act, and defer more 
frequently to the chief executive. A small board may lack depth of experience and 
counsel and may not be able to adequately spread the workload among its members to 
operate effectively; and

■	 the board’s composition reflects attention to diversity issues. 

Where to find information about board member terms and board composition:

In most cases, the best place to find information about the election of board members is 
in the notice and supporting documents of the company’s annual general meeting. In the 
United States and Canada, this information is typically part of the annual proxy statement 
to shareowners. Investors should check the company’s bylaws and articles of organization 
to determine whether management and the board are permitted to fill vacancies without 
shareowner approval.

Board Committees
This section considers separately the audit committee, the remuneration or compensation 
committee, the nominations committee, and other board committees.

Audit Committee
Investors should determine whether the board has established a committee of indepen-
dent board members, including those with recent and relevant experience in finance and 
accounting, to oversee the audit of the company’s financial reports.
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The Purpose of the Audit Committee
The audit committee’s primary objective is to ensure that the financial information 
reported by the company is complete, accurate, reliable, relevant, and timely. To this end, 
the audit committee is responsible for hiring and supervising the independent external 
auditors and ensuring that

■	 the external auditors’ priorities are aligned with the best interests of the company;

■	 the auditor is independent of management influences;

■	 the information included in the financial reports is complete, accurate, reliable, rel-
evant, verifiable, and timely;

■	 the financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP) or international financial reporting standards (IFRS) and 
regulatory disclosure requirements in the company’s jurisdiction;

■	 the audit is conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards;

■	 all conflicts of interest between the external auditor and the company are resolved in 
favor of the company; and

■	 the independent auditors have authority over the audit of the entire group, including 
foreign subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Implications for Investors
If the independence of the audit committee is compromised, it could raise doubts about 
the integrity of the financial reporting process and about the credibility of the company’s 
financial statements. Misrepresentations of, or other distortions about, the company’s per-
formance and financial condition ultimately could have a detrimental effect on the com-
pany’s share valuation.

Things to Consider
Investors should determine whether

■	 all of the board members serving on the audit committee are independent;

■	 any of the board members serving on the audit committee are considered financial 
experts;
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■	 the board submits the appointment of the external auditors to a vote of shareowners;

■	 the board, supported by the audit committee, has the authority to approve or reject 
other proposed nonaudit engagements with the external audit firm. This conclusion 
should be based on a review of the committee’s report on the services received from 
and fees paid to the external audit firm; 

■	 the audit committee has policies relating to any fees paid by the company to the exter-
nal auditor for nonaudit consulting services and for resolving these types of potential 
conflicts of interest. Such nonaudit fees may influence the auditors in a way that leads 
them to resolve conflicts regarding financial reporting issues in favor of management 
rather than for the benefit of shareowners;

■	 the company has procedures and provisions ensuring that the internal auditor reports 
directly to the audit committee in the case of concerns regarding the accuracy or 
integrity of the financial reports or accounting practices. Similarly, the audit commit-
tee should have unimpeded access to the internal auditor;

■	 any discussions between the committee and the external auditors have resulted in a 
change in the financial reports as a result of questionable interpretations of account-
ing rules, fraud, or other accounting problems, and whether the company has fired its 
external auditors as a result of such issues;

■	 the committee controls the audit budget to enable it to address unanticipated or com-
plex issues;

■	 the company has signed any agreement with the auditor limiting the auditor’s liability 
in the event of negligence, breach of duty, or breach of trust;

■	 the committee undergoes or is required to undergo periodic training to keep abreast 
of current financial issues;

■	 the company has a policy concerning audit firm tenure to address concerns that, after 
a long audit relationship with a company, the audit firm may be less inclined to remain 
impartial; and

■	 the company has used a number of different auditors in recent years, which may indi-
cate that the company is shopping for a more pliant audit firm.
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Where to find information about the audit committee:

Australia
Companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) are required to disclose 
in their annual reports whether they have not complied with the exchange’s recommen-
dations pertaining to the audit committee, along with an explanation of why they did 
not comply.

Canada
Companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE) are required to disclose in their 
annual reports whether

■	 they have an audit committee,

■	 the audit committee members are nonexecutive,

■	 the board has defined its roles and responsibilities,

■	 the audit committee communicates directly with internal and external auditors, and

■	 the audit committee is responsible for overseeing management reporting and internal 
control systems.

European Union
All listed companies in the EU must have an audit committee or “body carrying out 
equivalent functions.” The committee must have at least one independent member—
although most national codes set a higher standard—and at least one member must have 
“competence in accounting or auditing.” The audit committee is required to report on the 
company’s system of internal controls in the annual director’s report.

United States
Companies must disclose whether they have at least one financial expert on their audit 
committee and the name of at least one of the committee’s financial experts. They also 
must disclose whether the named board members are independent. If they disclose that 
they do not have at least one financial expert on their audit committee, they must explain 
why.
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Companies also must disclose in their annual proxy statements

■	 whether they have a standing audit committee and, if so, the name of each committee 
member, the number of meetings held, and a description of the functions performed 
by the committee;

■	 whether the board has adopted a written charter for the audit committee. If so, the 
company must include a copy of the charter as an appendix to the proxy statement at 
least once every three years. If this information is available, investors will most likely 
find it on the company’s website;

■	 if the company’s shares are quoted on the NASDAQ or the American or New York 
stock exchanges, whether the audit committee members are independent as defined in 
the applicable listing standards (together with certain information regarding any audit 
committee member who is not independent);

■	 whether the audit committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial reports 
with management and the independent auditors and whether the auditors made 
appropriate disclosures regarding their independence; and

■	 a statement by the audit committee specifying whether it recommended to the board 
that the audited financial statements be included in the annual report.

In some US jurisdictions, the audit committee holds the primary responsibility for assess-
ing and mitigating the risks a company faces. If the audit committee is charged with such 
a responsibility, shareowners need to determine whether the committee reviews all of the 
risks a company faces, including credit, market, fiduciary, liquidity, reputation, opera-
tional, strategic, and technology risks.

Remuneration and Compensation Committee
Investors should determine whether the company has a committee of independent board 
members charged with setting board and management remuneration and compensation.10

The Purpose of the Remuneration and Compensation Committee
The remuneration committee is responsible for ensuring that compensation and other 
awards encourage the board and management to act in ways that enhance the company’s 

10 For more on executive compensation in Asia, see Lee Kha Loon and Abe De Ramos, It Pays to Disclose: 
Bridging the Information Gap in Executive-Compensation Disclosures in Asia (Charlottesville, VA: CFA 
Institute, March 2008), and The Compensation of Senior Executives at Listed Companies.
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long-term profitability and value. It is also responsible for ensuring that the remuneration 
packages offered to management are commensurate with the level of responsibilities of 
the executives and appropriate in light of the company’s performance, and for determining 
whether compensation drivers are fostering excessive risk taking, entrenchment of man-
gers, or abusive or unethical behaviors. The committee can further these goals by

■	 including only independent board members on the committee;

■	 linking executive compensation to the long-term profitability of the company and long-term 
increases in share value relative to competitors and other comparably situated companies;

■	 ensuring that remuneration policies are aligned with a company’s strategy, risk appe-
tite, and corporate culture; 

■	 eliminating any potential conflicts of interests between the compensation committee 
and the company by using, for instance, only independent compensation consultants 
who report solely to the committee;

■	 communicating regularly with the company’s shareowners about compensation phi-
losophy and how it aligns with the company’s strategic goals;

■	 establishing clear mechanisms in compensation packages for recouping incentive pay 
from management if the money was earned through fraud;

■	 developing clear (i.e., “plain language”) explanations of compensation philosophy  
and policies that are periodically communicated to all shareowners and other  
stakeholders; and

■	 ensuring that compensation committee members (or the board if the board sets 
compensation) understand all components of executive pay packages and are aware 
of what final payments may be made to executives in both best-case and worst-case 
scenarios.

Implications for Investors
The existence of the committee and its independence from executive management bias 
helps ensure that the rewards and incentives offered to management are consistent with 
the best long-term interests of the company. Committees that lack independence may be 
overly pressured by management to award compensation that is excessive when compared 
with other comparably situated companies or to provide incentives for actions that boost 
short-term share prices at the expense of long-term profitability and value.

The Board



WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG28

The Corporate Governance of Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors

Things to Consider
As part of their analyses relating to the remuneration and compensation committee, 
investors should determine whether

■	 the overall composition of the compensation packages offered to senior management 
is appropriate;

■	 the committee adequately articulates its compensation philosophy, policies, and pro-
cedures to shareowners;

■	 executive compensation is linked to the long-term profitability of the company and 
long-term increases in share value relative to competitors and comparable companies. 
Shareowners should determine whether incentive structures encourage management 
to take excessive risks in the short term that may prove detrimental to the company’s 
long-term viability;

■	 compensation packages contain clear mechanisms, if allowed by local laws and regu-
lations, for recouping incentive pay from management if it was earned through fraud 
or other activities deemed detrimental to the company’s sustainable performance or 
viability;

■	 committee members understand all components of executive pay packages and are 
aware of what final payment may be made to executives in best-case and worst-case 
scenarios;

■	 committee members regularly attended meetings during the previous year;

■	 the company has provided detailed information to shareowners in public documents 
relating to the compensation paid during the previous year to the company’s five high-
est paid executives and to its board members; 

■	 the company has issued any disclosures about the major components and amounts 
paid to these individuals. Some jurisdictions require companies to provide only sum-
mary information about the compensation of senior managers and the board;

■	 the terms and conditions of options granted to management and employees are  
disclosed and whether the terms are reasonable;

■	 the company intends to issue newly registered shares to fulfill its share-based remu-
neration obligations or intends to settle those options with shares repurchased in the 
open market;
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■	 the company and the board are required to receive shareowner approval for any share- 
based remuneration plans. Such plans affect the number of shares outstanding and, 
consequently, current shareowners’ ownership interests, as well as the basis on which 
earnings per share are reported and the market valuations of the company’s securities;

■	 the board receives variable remuneration instruments, such as stock options or 
restricted stock, and whether such awards adequately align the interests of the board 
with those of the company;

■	 senior executives from other companies who have cross-directorship links with the 
company are members of the committee. Executive remuneration is often based on 
compensation of similarly positioned individuals at other companies, and if the com-
mittee has individuals who could benefit directly from reciprocal decisions on remu-
neration, those decisions may not be in the best interests of the subject company (see 
the section titled “Board Independence”); and

■	 whether potential conflicts of interest exist between the compensation committee and 
the company. One way to avoid such conflicts is to use only independent compensa-
tion consultants who report solely to the committee.11

Where to find information about the remuneration and compensation committee:

Australia
Companies that list on the ASX are required to disclose in their annual reports whether 
they failed to comply with the exchange’s recommendations for remuneration committees 
and to provide an explanation of why they did not comply.

Brazil
The major sources for compensation information in Brazil are the Reference Form and the 
annual general meeting proxy statements required by the regulation.

Canada
The TSE requires TSE-listed companies to report in their annual reports or their man-
agement information and proxy circulars whether they have a compensation committee 

11 For more discussion on this topic, see The Compensation of Senior Executives at Listed Companies.
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and, if so, whether it is composed of independent or nonexecutive board members and 
whether a majority of the board is independent. New rules that came into force for annual 
reports after 31 December 2008, not unlike the SEC rules, require disclosure of total 
compensation in a “compensation disclosure and analysis” section.

United Kingdom
Listed UK companies are required to report in their annual reports on the frequency of 
and attendance by members at remuneration committee meetings. These companies also 
must disclose the responsibilities delegated to the committee.

United States
Listed US companies report in their annual proxy statements on whether they have a 
standing compensation committee. These reports also include the names of committee 
members, summaries of compensation strategies, and the policies and procedures of the 
committee.

Nominations Committee
Investors should determine whether the company has a nominations committee 
composed of independent board members that is responsible for recruiting board 
members.

The Purpose of the Nominations Committee
The nominations committee is responsible for

■	 identifying new board members with appropriate qualities and experience in light of 
the company’s business needs;

■	 regularly examining the performance, independence, skills, and expertise of existing 
board members to determine whether they meet the current and future needs of the 
company and the board;

■	 creating nominations policies and procedures; and

■	 preparing for the succession of executive management and the board.
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Implications for Investors
The slate of candidates offered by the nominations committee will determine whether 
the board ultimately works for the benefit of the company. This committee must remain 
independent to ensure that it identifies individuals who can and will work on behalf of the 
company and to ensure that the performance assessment of current board members is fair 
and appropriate (see the section “Board Member Qualifications”).

Things to Consider
Investors may have to review company reports over several years to adequately assess 
whether the nominations committee has recruited board members who act in the interests 
of the company. They also should review

■	 the criteria for nominating new board members;

■	 the composition, background, and areas of expertise of existing board members and 
whether new nominees complement the board’s current portfolio of talents, including 
an attempt to bring diverse talent and backgrounds to the board;

■	 how the committee finds potential new board members, including whether the com-
mittee engages in a search for candidates, such as by using an executive search firm, or 
whether its members rely on the advice of management or other board members;

■	 the attendance records of board members at regular and special meetings;

■	 the company’s succession plan for executive management in the event of unforeseen 
circumstances, such as the sudden incapacitation of the chief operating or finance 
officers, as well as information provided by the company about the plan and who is 
expected to lead and implement it; and

■	 the report of the committee, including any discussion of its actions and decisions dur-
ing the previous year, including the number of meetings held, attendance by commit-
tee members, and the committee’s policies and procedures.

Where to find information about the nominations committee:

The annual reports of companies in many countries include a general discussion of the 
actions taken by the committee during the previous year. Moreover, the websites of many 
listed companies describe the activities and members of the committee and, in some coun-
tries, provide information about the committee’s charter.
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The annual reports of companies listed in some countries, such as Australia and the 
United Kingdom, are required to disclose and explain when a company fails to comply 
with applicable nominations committee rules.

The corporate governance report, if available, often includes an explanation of the com-
pany’s nominations process and whether the company has a specially designated nomina-
tions committee.

In some jurisdictions, such as the United States, investors should look in the annual proxy 
statement to shareowners for indications about the work of this committee, including the 
name of each committee member and the number of meetings held.

Other Board Committees
Investors should determine whether the board has other committees that oversee man-
agement’s activities in certain areas, such as corporate governance, M&A, legal matters, 
risk management, and environmental health and safety issues.

The Purpose of the Other Board Committees
A board may have other specialized committees designed to deal with issues pertinent to 
their industry, line of business, or current circumstances that are not standard committees 
that most companies have.

Implications for Investors
Because other board committees usually are not covered by national corporate governance 
codes or exchange-mandated guidelines in the manner that audit, remuneration, or nomi-
nations committees are, they are more likely to include members who are part of executive 
management. Consequently, these committees may not, and possibly need not, achieve the 
levels of independence expected of the audit, nominations, and remuneration committees. 
Although an Executive Committee may serve as a vehicle for taking actions quickly (with-
out the need to call a special meeting of the entire board), it also may be used to circum-
vent scrutiny by the full board. In cases in which Executive Committees exist, investors are 
advised to carefully review the company’s bylaws, number of meetings, and actions taken. 

Depending on each committee’s purpose, other committees created by the board can 
provide additional insight into the goals, focus, and strategies of the company. For 
example, a committee dedicated to risk management may consider the identification and 
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quantification of financial and operational risks faced by the company and determine its 
optimal risk exposure. In the wake of the 2007–2009 global financial crisis, risk man-
agement committees—especially those at financial institutions—have heightened profiles 
and have taken on responsibilities now seen as important as those of more traditional 
board committees (e.g., audit and compensation committees). Risk management commit-
tees around the globe are now charged with a thorough review of the company’s financial 
risks, including leverage, counterparty risks, and exposure concentrations.

Things to Consider
Investors should understand the amount of risk management and risk measurement exper-
tise present on a committee charged with managing and measuring a company’s risk profile.

Where to find information about other board committees:

As in the case with the audit, compensation, and nominations committees, investors may 
look for information about special-purpose committees in the following four places: the 
annual reports to shareowners; the annual corporate governance report, if available; the 
websites of listed companies; and, in jurisdictions such as the United States and Canada, 
the annual proxy statement to shareowners.

Board Communications with Shareowners
Investors should evaluate the communications the board has with shareowners and the 
ability shareowners have to meet with the board.

Board communication is important, but many boards do not conduct proper investor rela-
tions services, or provide non-board-level communications with shareowners in emerging 
markets.

Implications for Investors
A corporate board does not have the time or resources to meet with all shareowners, but 
it should establish ways for shareowners to communicate their concerns to the board. This 
practice enables the board to understand legitimate concerns raised by shareowners that 
it may not have identified or addressed. A board should not breach its fiduciary duty to 
the company by acting in the interests of any specific shareowner to the detriment of the 
company as a whole or by disclosing material information to one group of shareowners 
while withholding it from others and the market. 

The Board
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Things to Consider
Most jurisdictions do not establish formal rules governing the interaction of boards and 
shareowners; therefore, the culture of board–shareowner interaction and collegiality will 
vary from market to market. Also, because of a lack of time and resources, a board is likely 
to meet only with institutional shareowners who have significant holdings in the com-
pany. Information technology not available in past decades may provide ways for share-
owners to communicate their concerns, as some companies have designated an e-mail 
address for the board, or some other form of electronic communications. Shareowners 
should consider whether they have easy and effective ways to communicate their concerns 
to the board, the chair, or the lead independent director.

In recent years, many institutional shareowners have greatly increased their commitment 
to engagement, including a sizable growth in engagement staff. Therefore, many share-
owners have the expectation that they should be engaging more often and on more issues 
with their portfolio companies. In turn, companies and boards should develop a strategy 
and the staffing power necessary to deal with increased shareowner engagement. This 
engagement should focus on building relationships with investors beyond basic inves-
tor relations interactions. By fostering better communications and trust with investors 
through engagement, companies, their management, and boards may be better able to 
protect themselves against corporate raiders and investors who do not share their long-
term strategic plan.

Where to find information about board communications:

A company’s corporate governance documents and websites will likely detail ways in 
which shareowners may communicate with the board, if such means of communications 
are available. Institutional investors and analysts who meet with boards are likely to reach 
a board through the company’s investor relations contact, its corporate secretary, or an 
existing personal relationship with a member of the board.
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Although the board, in consultation with management, helps set the strategic, ethical, 
and financial course for a company, investors ultimately rely on management to implement 
that course. Management has the responsibility to communicate to directors, investors, 
and the public information about the company’s performance, financial and nonfinancial 
condition, and any changes in strategy or corporate initiatives in a complete, effective, and 
timely manner.

Investors are generally familiar with management reports about a company’s financial 
performance and condition. However, they may not be aware of other sources of informa-
tion that may provide insight into the corporate culture, governance practices, and ESG 
issues. The company’s code of ethics, corporate governance principles, compensation poli-
cies, share-repurchase and price-stabilization programs, takeover defenses, sustainability 
reports, and approach to shareowner communication all provide valuable insight into 
whether management is focused on maximizing company value.

To help investors understand management’s role and responsibilities in corporate gov-
ernance matters, the following section discusses company codes of ethics and corporate 
culture and reviews aspects of corporate transparency.

Implementation of Code of Ethics
Investors should determine whether the company has adopted a code of ethics and whether 
the company’s actions indicate a commitment to an appropriate ethical framework.

The Purpose of a Code of Ethics
A company’s code of ethics sets standards for ethical conduct that are based on the com-
pany’s purpose, vision, mission and values, as well as on basic principles of integrity, trust, 
and honesty. This code provides personnel with a framework for behavior while conduct-
ing the company’s business, and guidance for addressing ethical dilemmas and conflicts of 
interest personnel may face in the workplace. In effect, the code of ethics represents a part 
of the company’s risk management, integrity, and compliance policies, which are intended 
to prevent company representatives from engaging in practices that could harm the  
company, its products, and the shareowners or stakeholders.
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Implications for Investors
Reported breaches of ethics in a company often result in regulatory sanctions, fines, man-
agement turnover, and unwanted negative media coverage, all of which can adversely 
affect a company’s performance and value. Adoption of and adherence to an appropriate 
corporate code of ethics indicates a commitment on the part of management to establish 
and maintain ethical practices. The existence of such a code and policies may be a mitigat-
ing factor in regulatory actions in cases in which a breach occurs.

Things to Consider
As part of their analyses of the company’s ethical climate, investors should determine 
whether the company

■	 gives the board access to relevant corporate information in a timely and comprehen-
sive manner;

■	 has an ethical code and whether that code prohibits any practice that would provide 
advantages to company insiders that are not also offered to shareowners. For example, 
a code might prohibit the company from offering shares at discounted prices to man-
agement, board members, and other insiders before a public offering of securities to 
prevent dilution of the value and interests of those who buy at the public offering price;

■	 has an ethical code that the company promotes internally and requires training for 
employees on compliance with the code;

■	 has designated someone who is responsible for corporate ethics;

■	 has an ethical code that provides waivers from its prohibitions to certain levels of 
management, the reasons why, and proposed action plans to eliminate those waivers;

■	 has waived any of its code’s provisions during recent periods, has explained why it did 
so, and has proposed action plans to avoid those waivers from happening again;

■	 is in compliance with the corporate governance code of the country where it is located 
or the governance requirements of the stock exchange that lists its securities. Typically, 
companies must disclose whether they have failed to adhere to such codes and, if so, 
give reasons for the failure. In some cases, noncompliance may result in fines or sanc-
tions by regulators. The company also may face informal sanctions, such as product 
boycotting by customers or political groups; and

■	 regularly performs an audit of its ethical or governance policies and procedures to 
make improvements.
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Where to find information about a company’s code of ethics and other ethical matters:

Companies with ethical codes typically post them on their public websites, include them 
in annual reports to shareowners, or, in countries that require them, include them in 
annual corporate governance reports.

The annual reports of companies listed in some countries, such as Australia, disclose when 
and why a company failed to meet applicable governance standards regarding the creation 
and implementation of a code of conduct.

Investors may check on the requirements of a country’s national corporate governance 
code (see Appendix A) or exchange-mandated governance requirements.

Personal Use of Company Assets
Investors should determine whether the company permits management, board members, 
or their family members (insiders) to use company assets for personal reasons.

Reasons for Reviewing the Company’s Policies on the Personal 
Use of Company Assets

Policies that limit or prohibit the use of company assets by insiders attempt to ensure that 
resources are used in the most efficient and productive manner for the purpose of generat-
ing returns for the company and all of its shareowners and stakeholders. Such policies and 
procedures also seek to preserve the independence of board members by attempting to 
prevent the conflicts of interest that may result when board members or their families use 
company assets.

Implications for Investors
When insiders, including management, board members, or their families, use company 
assets for personal reasons, those resources are not available for investment in productive and 
income-generating activities. Such use also creates conflicts of interest for board members.

Things to Consider
When reviewing a company’s policies regarding the personal use of company assets, 
investors should determine whether the company
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■	 has an ethical code or policies and procedures that place limits on the ability of insid-
ers to use company assets for personal benefit;

■	 has lent or donated cash or other resources to insiders (including family members and 
other related parties), has explained why it did so, and has proposed action plans to 
avoid repeating those actions;

■	 has purchased property or other assets, such as houses or airplanes, for the personal 
use of management, board members, or their family members; has explained why it 
did so; and has proposed action plans to avoid making such purchases again; and

■	 has leased assets, such as dwellings or transportation vehicles, to management, board 
members, or their family members, and whether the terms of such contracts are 
appropriate in light of market conditions.

Where to find information about insider transactions:

Investors may find information about loans to company executives, board members, or 
their families on its website or in the “Related-Party Transactions” section of a company’s 
annual report, its annual corporate governance report, and its annual proxy statement to 
shareowners. Investors also should review the prospectus of a company before a public 
offering of securities for any related-party transactions. This document should inform 
investors about transactions that permit insiders to purchase shares at a discount prior to 
an offering at a higher price.

Corporate Transparency
This section reviews aspects of executive compensation; share-repurchase and price-
stabilization plans; management communications with shareowners; financial, corporate 
governance, and ESG reporting; and auditing practices.

Executive Compensation
Investors should analyze both the amounts paid to key executives for managing the 
company’s affairs and the manner in which compensation is provided to determine 
whether compensation paid to the company’s executives (1) is commensurate with the 
executives’ responsibilities and performance, and (2) provides appropriate incentives 
without fostering excessive risk taking, manager entrenchment, or abusive or unethical 
behaviors.
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Reasons for Reviewing Executive Compensation Disclosures
Disclosures of how much, in what manner, and on what basis executive management is 
paid shed light on a board’s stewardship of company assets. Furthermore, these disclo-
sures allow investors to evaluate whether the compensation is reasonable in light of the 
apparent return to the company in terms of performance.

Implications for Shareowners
The purpose of compensation is to reward managers for gains that are attributed directly 
to superior and sustainable performance. An appropriately designed program should cre-
ate incentives for company executives to generate sustainable value for shareowners.

A flawed compensation program may encourage executives to make decisions that gener-
ate additional compensation for themselves through short-term gains rather than decisions 
that implement an appropriate strategy focused on long-term growth. A flawed program 
may reward managers for excessive risk taking or following broad sector- or industry-wide 
trends and could dilute the ownership positions of existing shareowners.

Compensation is often split between a basic salary and some form of bonus. Although no 
single model prevails, best practice has moved toward bonuses that reflect (1) recent busi-
ness performance against targeted indicators, such as key performance indicators linked 
to the company’s strategy; and (2) a bonus based on a long-term incentive plan (LTIP), 
which uses forward-looking indicators of success. The LTIP is designed to capture how 
well the management has positioned the company for long-term growth. In general, sal-
ary is not performance dependent but the bonus and LTIP are.

Things to Consider
When reviewing a company’s executive compensation disclosures, investors should exam-
ine the following:

■	 Remuneration or Compensation Program. An examination of the terms and conditions 
of the company’s executive compensation program, along with an analysis of summa-
ries of agreements with executives, will help investors determine whether the program 
rewards long-term growth or short-term increases in company value. This review 
should include a plain-language explanation of whether the remuneration and com-
pensation committee uses consultants to set pay for company executives or relies on 
internal sources, which may be biased. Investors should focus on whether the rewards 
offered to management are based on the performance of the company relative to its 
competitors or on some other metric.
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■	 Past Executive Compensation. Analysis of the actual compensation paid to the com-
pany’s top executives during recent years and the elements of the compensation pack-
ages offered to key employees can help shareowners determine whether the company 
is receiving adequate returns for the investment it has made in management and 
whether remuneration is aligned with company and shareowner interests. For exam-
ple, the proportion of fixed versus variable compensation can indicate management’s 
risk appetite.

■	 Whether Compensation is Variable or Performance Based. Investors should determine 
whether the compensation package is linked (throughout a normal business cycle) to 
the long-term profitability and share-price performance of the company relative to 
its competitors and peers. Best practices include disclosure of the targets and actual 
award thresholds that the board uses to determine incentive-based compensation 
(both the bonus and LTIP). Investors should ask the following key questions:

o	 Is the remuneration plan relatively simple to understand or overly opaque?

o	 Is performance measured relative to peers, and are these peers the right compari-
son group?

o	 Do targets require adequate stretching by executives in the current economic 
climate?

o	 Are remuneration goals appropriate for the specific business and efficient and 
cost-effective in delivering its long-term strategy?

o	 Are targets clearly linked to the company’s long-term strategy or positively correlated 
with financial performance, such as return on capital or total shareholder return?

o	 Is the remuneration somehow linked to nonfinancial criteria (e.g., ESG) and if 
yes, to which?

o	 Is the incentive scheme compatible with the risk policy of the company?

o	 Is performance measured over a reasonable timeframe, ideally through a complete 
business cycle?

o	 Does performance measurement take account of risk taken?

o	 Does the compensation plan include clawback provisions to recoup pay earned 
through fraud?

o	 Do restrictions on shares require management to hold shares for a certain 
timeframe?
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■	 Use of External Consultants. Investors should determine whether the remuneration 
and compensation committee uses consultants to set pay for company executives or 
whether it relies on internal sources, which may be biased.

■	 Share-Based Compensation Terms. Examination of the terms of this type of remunera-
tion program, including the total shares offered to key executives and other employees, 
should alert investors to how the program can affect shares outstanding, dilution of 
shareowner interests, and share values. Investors should determine whether the com-
pany seeks shareowner approval for creation or amendments to such plans (for other 
issues that may require a vote of shareowners, see the section “Shareowner Rights”).

■	 Stock Option Expensing. Compensation, regardless of whether it is paid in cash, 
shares, or share options, involves payment for services received and should appear as 
an expense on the income statement. IFRS and GAAP both require companies to 
expense stock option grants. Investors should be aware of a potentially excessive lever-
age offered by stock options and excessive risk-taking incentives.

■	 Option Repricing. Investors should remain aware of efforts by the company to reprice 
downward the strike prices of stock options previously granted. Changes in the strike 
price remove the incentives the original options created for management and thus 
reduce the link between long-term profitability and company performance with man-
agement remuneration.

■	 Equity-Award Vesting Schedules. Shareowners need to determine whether options, 
restricted stock, and other equity-based awards vest immediately, which may engen-
der a short-term mind-set, or vest over a series of years, which may better align the 
interests of management with those of the company and shareowners.

■	 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans (SERPs). Many companies have established 
SERPs or other retirement plans for their executives that provide benefits above and 
beyond those covered in the company’s ordinary retirement plans. Investors should 
understand the details of these supplemental plans to determine which company 
resources are or will be devoted to these plans over the life of an executive’s contract.

■	 Perquisites. Shareowners should understand the nonfinancial benefits given to execu-
tives and the outlays of company resources that are behind such benefits. Perquisites 
include automobiles and personal use of corporate aircraft; security systems; executive 
dining rooms; legal, tax,  and financial consulting services; and low-interest-rate loans.

■	 Share Ownership by Management. Investors should determine whether members of 
management have share holdings other than those related to stock option grants. 
Such holdings should align the interests of executives with those of the company and 
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shareowners. Shareowners should look to see whether management is required to 
hold shares for any time after they might leave the company, which in theory makes 
management more inclined to weigh the long-term impact of their decisions.

■	 The Company’s Peer Group. Shareowners should note whether the company discloses 
the peer group that is used to benchmark its performance. If so, shareowners need to 
determine whether this peer group is appropriate and whether it has been relatively 
stable over the years. A compensation red flag may be raised if a peer group is not 
appropriate for comparison or is frequently changing.12

■	 Clawback Provisions. Investors need to understand whether the company has provi-
sions for the return of money by managers in clear cases of fraud.

Where to find information about executive compensation:

In many jurisdictions, companies report information about executive compensation in 
their annual reports. In some cases, disclosures about amounts paid to individual execu-
tives is voluntary, although accounting standards setters and securities regulators are 
increasingly making such disclosures compulsory.

In the United States and Canada, executive compensation strategies and reports of actual 
compensation paid to key executives are included in the company’s annual proxy statement 
to shareowners. Investors also may find such information posted on company websites.

Share-Repurchase and Price-Stabilization 
Programs

Shareowners should inquire into the size, purpose, means of financing, and duration of 
share-repurchase programs and price-stabilization efforts.

Reasons for Reviewing Disclosures of Share-Repurchase and 
Price-Stabilization Programs

A company may use a share-repurchase program to buy its own shares that are already 
trading on a public stock exchange. In a stabilization program, the company has its invest-
ment bankers buy and sell shares following a public offering of shares to reduce the price 
volatility of the shares.

12 See also The Compensation of Senior Executives at Listed Companies. 
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Implications for Investors
Buying shares on the open market can have a positive effect on share values by reducing 
the number of shares available and increasing the value for the remaining shares outstand-
ing. Price-stabilization programs may reduce the volatility of a security’s price following a 
public offering and permit the market to achieve balance between buyers and sellers. Such 
programs, however, also may provide insiders with an opportunity to trade at a higher 
price in anticipation that the share price will decline or buy at a lower price in anticipation 
of future price gains.

Things to Consider
When reviewing share-repurchase and price-stabilization programs, investors should 
determine the following:

■	 The Intention of the Program. Investors should determine whether the board intends 
to use repurchased shares (1) to reduce the number of shares outstanding to increase 
long-term valuations, (2) to fund the future exercise of management share options, 
or (3) to prevent a hostile takeover. Depending on the perspective of the investor, 
the program may enhance or hurt long-term share value. Fixed-income investors, for 
example, may view the use of cash to repurchase shares as detrimental to the ability of 
the company to repay its outstanding debts.13 Equity investors, in contrast, may see 
such actions as beneficial to their valuations.

■	 The Size and Financing of the Program. This information, together with disclosures 
about whether the company plans to use internally generated cash from operations 
or issue debt to finance the purchases, can help equity investors determine how the 
program will affect the value of the company’s shares.

In addition, investors should review the following:

■	 Regular Updates on the Program’s Progress. In particular, investors should review the 
prices at which open-market purchases of shares were made, the number of shares 
purchased, cumulative amounts of shares repurchased to date, and the average price 
paid to date. This information should help investors anticipate completion of the pro-
gram and how that may affect share value. It also should help investors determine 
whether the program is proceeding as planned or exceeding original intentions for 
scope and cost.

13 Bond indentures may require that the company repay outstanding debt securities or receive a waiver from 
bondholders before launching a share-repurchase program.
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■	 Disclosures Relating to Stabilization Activities. Before investing in a public offering of 
securities, investors should determine whether the company intends to use such stabi-
lization services and should subsequently review updates about the number of shares 
purchased and sold under the program, the average price paid and received, and when 
the activities concluded. This information will indicate whether the company and its 
advisers acted as proposed or whether they engaged in unintended or undisclosed 
activities.

Where to find information about share-repurchase and price-stabilization programs:

The annual and interim reports of a company, in most cases, will provide the informa-
tion relating to a share-repurchase program. The prospectus for an offering should include 
initial information relating to stabilization activities. Annual and interim financial reports 
should provide the results of stabilization programs.

Investors should look to the prospectus for an offering to determine whether at the time 
of the offering the company intended to use agents to perform price-stabilization services 
following the issuance of the securities.

Of particular interest are post-stabilization disclosures. In the EU, companies are required 
by the Market Abuse Directive to disclose (1) whether stabilization activities were under-
taken and, if so, (2) the dates the program began and ended, and (3) the range of prices at 
which such activities were conducted. The ultimate disclosures will come from either the 
issuer or the lead underwriter.

The SEC currently does not require post-stabilization disclosures like those of the 
EU, although it is considering implementation of such a policy. Currently, NASDAQ 
requires market makers to attach a special symbol to an order for this purpose; other 
exchanges require underwriters to notify the exchange and provide disclosure to the 
recipient of the bid that such bids are part of a stabilization program. In many other 
jurisdictions, post-stabilization disclosures must be made only to the company and the 
exchange.

Management Communications with Shareowners
Investors should evaluate the level of communications that management has with 
shareowners and the ability shareowners have to speak with management.
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Reasons for Reviewing Management Communications  
with Shareowners

The level of engagement with shareowners signals how open a management team and its 
board are with outside input. Shareowners should also evaluate the quality of management 
communications with shareowners to better assess the quality of the information provided.

Implications for Investors
As was the case when discussing board–shareowner communications, investors need to 
understand that corporate management does not have the time or resources to meet with 
all shareowners. Management, however, should take care to establish ways for shareown-
ers to communicate their concerns to management so they may understand legitimate 
concerns raised by shareowners that may not have been identified or addressed.

Management must not give information to certain shareowners that is not given to all 
shareowners, but management should be open to shareowner suggestions and concerns.

Things to Consider
Most large companies employ in-house investor relations teams or outsourced investor 
relations professionals to handle communications between management and individual 
shareowners. These avenues are probably the best way for investors to communicate with 
management. Individual shareowners rarely have a direct avenue to contact management 
outside of an annual meeting.

To engender the kind of communications they want from management, shareowners 
should

■	 encourage companies to provide frequent and meaningful communications about 
strategy and long-term vision, including transparent financial and nonfinancial 
reporting that reflects a company’s progress toward its strategic goals; 

■	 encourage the inclusion of statements concerning long-term corporate strategy in all 
company communications; and 

■	 encourage companies to disclose and comment on significant changes to their operat-
ing metrics (e.g., debt-to-equity ratio, inventory turnover, current ratio, sales growth). 
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Where to find information about management communications:

Much of the communication management has with shareowners comes through prescribed 
avenues, such as the company’s annual report, annual meetings, earnings press releases, 
earnings conference calls, and conference presentations.

Institutional investors and analysts who meet with management are more likely than 
individual investors to reach management through a company’s investor relations con-
tact, corporate secretary, or existing personal relationship with a member of the board 
management. Shareowners may want to determine whether companies are required to 
disclose information not only to the analyst community but also to the general investing 
public. 

Financial Reporting, Corporate Governance,  
and ESG Reporting 

Investors should evaluate the level and quality of reporting around corporate governance 
and ESG issues as well as that of financial reporting to determine if a company offers 
timely and transparent information. 

Reasons for Reviewing Financial Reporting, Corporate 
Governance, and ESG Reporting

Many investors use the level and depth of reporting on corporate governance and ESG 
issues, in addition to analysis of financial reports, as a proxy for the quality of management 
and the board. The rationale for this reliance is that management teams and boards who 
are managing these issues well are managing the long-term sustainability of the company.

Implications for Investors
Traditional reporting about a company’s financial position (balance sheet, income state-
ment, statement of cash flows) is the main lens with which investors judge the health of a 
company. This analysis, coupled with proper scrutiny of a company’s governance and ESG 
policies, gives a fuller view of the risks and opportunities facing a company.

Things to Consider
When evaluating financial, corporate governance, and ESG reporting, shareowners should 
consider
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■	 whether financial reporting practices are in keeping with international best practices;

■	 whether nonfinancial reporting standards for corporate governance disclosure are in 
keeping with international best practices; 

■	 whether the company has a formal policy relating to ESG and sustainability issues;

■	 whether nonfinancial reporting disclosures for ESG and sustainability disclosure are 
in keeping with international best practices (e.g., annual report contains an ESG or 
sustainability section, or company produces a separate global reporting initiative or 
sustainability report);

■	 whether quarterly reporting is mandatory;

■	 whether financial reports are clear and informative;

■	 whether the company discloses when shareowners own 5% or more of company stock;

■	 whether the company discloses share transactions by directors and controlling share-
owners within three working days; and 

■	 whether the company uses an easy to understand electronic format (like XBRL) to 
disclose information.

Where to find information about financial report and corporate governance:

Financial information should be found in the standard places in a company’s annual 
report. Governance and ESG information may be found in many different places, such 
as a company’s website, in a separate sustainability or ESG report, or even in the annual 
report itself if the company has adopted an integrated reporting framework.

Auditing Practices
Investors should evaluate the quality of the audit performed on a company’s financials 
to determine if the financial information provided is accurate and a true reflection of the 
company’s health.

Reasons for Reviewing Auditing Practices 
Any audit irregularities or red flags raised by an auditor should result in further and care-
ful examination by investors to determine whether such issues may have an adverse impact 
on a company going forward.
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Things to Consider
When evaluating a company’s auditing practices, shareowners should consider

■	 whether the company has an effective and independent audit committee; 

■	 whether the company has been involved in any transactions during the past five years 
that cast doubt on the independence of the external auditors;

■	 whether auditing practices are in keeping with international standards;

■	 whether external auditors adequately question and explain audit findings in their 
report; and

■	 whether the market in which the company operates has an independent audit 
regulator, and if not, whether audit standards follow international best practices.

Where to find information about auditing:

This information can be found in an audit report, typically located prior to a company’s 
financial statements in its annual report.
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The value of a financial security is determined not only by its claim on the company’s 
future earnings but also by the rights associated with that security. Among the rights 
associated with shares of common stock are the right to elect board members and the 
right to vote on matters that may affect the value of shareowner holdings, such as mergers 
or acquisitions. Other rights may include the right to apply the cumulative votes of one’s 
shares to one or a limited number of board nominees, the ability to nominate people to 
the board, and the right to propose changes to company operations.

Shareowners may not have all these rights in all cases, nor will they always find it easy 
to exercise those rights that are accessible. For example, companies in some regions can 
restrict voting to only those owners who are present at scheduled meetings of shareown-
ers. Companies also may be able to prevent shareowners—in return for exercising their 
vote—from trading for a designated period before the annual general meeting. In other 
cases, individuals and institutions cannot confidentially cast their votes. In still other 
cases, founding-family members or government shareowners may exercise disproportion-
ate influence over a company’s affairs through the ownership of special classes of shares or 
pyramid controlling structures that grant them super-voting rights. 

Shareowners may have the power to remedy situations in certain cases, but such remedies 
are not universal. Local laws and regulations also may provide legal or regulatory redress.

Such issues are of interest not only to equity investors but also to investors interested 
in fixed-income investments—for example, companies that grant super-voting rights to 
a certain class of stock and shareowners historically use debt financing more than equity 
financing to fund investments in new business opportunities.14 Such a strategy may raise 
the financial risk of a company and, ultimately, increase the possibility of default.

Investors should recognize what specific rights are attached to the securities they are con-
sidering and factor that information into any investment decisions. Doing so may avoid 
situations that result in reduced valuations and poor investment performance. Shareowner-
rights standards and the legal and regulatory environments that underpin those rights 

14 A December 2003 study by Paul A. Gompers, Joy L. Ishii, and Andrew Metrick found that compa-
nies with two classes of common shares that separated the voting rights from the cash flow rights resulted 
in underinvestment and lower valuations. See Gompers, Ishii, and Metrick, “Incentives vs. Control: An 
Analysis of U.S. Dual-Class Companies,” NBER Working Paper No. w10240, National Bureau of Economic 
Research (January 2004), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=492353.

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=492353
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vary from market to market. Therefore, shareowners must seek out information to under-
stand their rights in each market. For this reason, we have included a comprehensive list 
of corporate governance codes in Appendix A and stewardship codes in Appendix B.15

Following is a discussion of issues that investors should consider when evaluating the 
shareowner rights of various companies.

Shareowner Voting
Companies have several kinds of rules governing the way shareowners may vote their 
shares. This section reviews aspects of shareowner voting about which investors should be 
aware, including ownership structure and voting rights, proxy voting, confidential voting 
and vote tabulation, cumulative voting, voting for other corporate changes, and share-
owner proposals.

Ownership Structure and Voting Rights
Investors should examine the company’s ownership structure to determine whether it 
has different classes of common shares that separate the voting rights of those shares 
from their economic value.

Reasons for Examining the Ownership Structure of the Company
A company that assigns one vote to each share is more likely to have a board that considers 
and acts in the best interests of an alignment among all shareowners, and the one-share, 
one-vote standard is considered to be a best practice by most international corporate gover-
nance codes and standards. Conversely, a company with different classes of shares in which 
the majority, or all, of the voting rights are given to one class of shareowners may create a 
situation in which the management and board are disproportionately focused on the interests 
of those favored shareowners and not on the company’s interests. It is usually in the share-
owners’ best interests for cash flow rights and voting rights to be equivalent. Companies with 
dual classes or multiple classes of shares often have a disconnect between cash flow rights (to 
all shareowners) and voting rights (in favor of certain shareowners with higher voting rights).

Implications for Investors
Since the publishing of the second edition of this manual, dual-class share structures have 
gained acceptance and increased in use in the United States, France, Hong Kong, and 

15 See also Shareowner Rights across the Markets.
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Singapore. It therefore is of paramount importance that shareowners understand what 
voting rights they do and do not have. In response to this increase in dual-class structures, 
some index providers have stated that they may restrict access to their indices to those 
companies that stray too far from the best practice one-share, one-vote principle. Another 
development concerning the issue of dual-class shares is the adoption by some companies 
of “sunset provisions” that either phase out a dual-class structure or abruptly end the dual-
class structure at some company milestone or date in the future. 

Things to Consider
When analyzing the ownership structure of a company, investors should consider whether

■	 the company has different classes of shares and how voting rights differ among them;

■	 the company has safeguards in its articles of organization or bylaws that protect the 
rights and interests of those shareowners whose shares have inferior voting rights;

■	 the company was recently privatized by a government or government entity and 
whether the selling government has retained voting rights that could veto certain 
decisions of management and the board. If so, a government could prevent shareown-
ers from receiving full value for their shares;

■	 the super-voting rights granted to certain classes of shareowners have impaired the 
company’s ability to raise equity capital for future investment. Investors may find the 
inferior class of shares unattractive, which could harm the company’s ability to finance 
future growth by means other than raising debt capital and increasing leverage;16 and

■	 the shareowners have a limited ability to change multiple class structures and other 
governance practices affecting management accountability.

Where to find information about whether the company has more than one class of shares:

In certain jurisdictions and in certain companies, investors may find information about 
the different classes of shares in the annual proxy statement to shareowners. The com-
pany’s website also is likely to describe the differences between shares of common stock 
and may provide hyperlinks to the company’s articles of organization, annual and interim 
financial reports, prospectuses, and proxy statements.

The prospectus relating to the initial or follow-on offerings of common shares to the pub-
lic is likely to include a discussion about different classes of common shares, including 

16 See Shareowner Rights across the Markets.
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whether any entity or group of investors retains sufficient voting power to overrule certain 
management or board decisions.

The notes to the financial statements, particularly in the annual report, will likely disclose 
the existence of different classes of common shares.

Proxy Voting
Investors should determine whether the company permits shareowners to vote their 
shares before scheduled meetings of shareowners regardless of whether they are able to 
attend the meetings in person.

Reasons for Evaluating a Company’s Voting Rules

The ability to vote one’s shares is a fundamental right of share ownership. In some jurisdic-
tions, shareowners may find it difficult to vote their shares, however, because the company 
accepts only those votes cast at its annual general meeting and does not allow shareowners 
the right to vote by proxy or electronically.

Implications for Investors
By making it difficult for shareowners to vote their common shares, a company limits a 
shareowners’ ability to choose board members or otherwise express their views on initia-
tives that could alter the company’s course.

Things to Consider
In examining whether a company permits proxy voting, investors should consider whether 
the company

■	 limits shareowners’ ability to cast votes by conditioning the exercise of their right to 
vote on their presence at the annual general meeting;

■	 coordinates the timing of its annual general meeting with other companies in its region 
to ensure that all of them hold their meetings on the same day but in different loca-
tions. In some regions that require shareowners to attend such meetings to vote, such 
actions seek to prevent shareowners from attending all the meetings and, therefore, 
from exercising their voting rights. In Pakistan, to avoid companies bunching their 
annual meeting dates together and disenfranchising shareowners, companies must 
submit meeting dates to the securities regulator for approval;
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■	 permits proxy voting by means of paper ballot, electronic voting, proxy voting ser-
vices, or some other remote mechanism;

■	 is permitted under its national governance code to use share blocking, whereby the 
company prevents investors who wish to exercise their voting rights from trading their 
shares during a period before the annual general meeting to permit the company and 
various financial institutions to certify who owns the shares; and

■	 gives shareowners enough time between the release of the proxy and the actual annual 
meeting to thoughtfully review any voting decisions and vote their shares. In some 
markets, shareowners are given only days or weeks to make such voting decisions, 
which renders voting especially difficult for foreign investors who may not be able to 
vote their shares as quickly as those investors in the local market.

Where to find information about the company’s proxy voting rules:

Investors can look to the company’s articles of organization and bylaws to determine the 
mechanisms shareowners can use to vote their shares. Investors also can examine the 
company’s corporate governance statement for information about whether proxy voting is 
permitted.

In the United States and Canada, the proxy statement describes the mechanisms by 
which shareowners can cast their votes by proxy. Also, state corporation law in the 
United States and provincial securities legislation in Canada regulate issues relating to 
proxies. Consequently, investors may have to determine the locality in which a company 
is incorporated—typically found in the articles of incorporation—to review the proxy 
regulations governing the company.

Confidential Voting and Vote Tabulation
Investors should determine whether shareowners are able to cast confidential votes.

Reasons for Determining Whether Shareowners  
Are Able to Cast Confidential Votes

Shareowners are more likely to vote and to do so conscientiously if they are assured that 
board members and management will not find out how they voted.
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Implications for Investors
Confidentiality of voting ensures that all votes are counted equally and that the 
board members and management cannot resolicit the votes of individuals and institu-
tions who voted against the positions of these insiders until the votes are officially 
recorded.17

Things to Consider
In examining whether shareowners can vote anonymously, investors should consider 
whether

■	 the company uses a third-party entity to tabulate shareowner votes;

■	 the company or its third-party agent retains voting records;

■	 the company provides “timely disclosure” (immediate or a day or two after the vote) of 
annual meeting voting results;

■	 the vote tabulation performed by the company or its third-party agent is subject to an 
audit to ensure accuracy;

■	 shareowners are permitted to vote only if they are present at a scheduled company 
meeting (for a discussion of this issue, see the section “Proxy Voting”).

Where to find information concerning confidentiality of voting rights:

Investors should look to the company’s bylaws or articles of organization to determine the 
procedures for counting and tabulating shareowner votes.

A voting practice that was recently discontinued in South Korea, but may still be in place 
in other jurisdictions, is “shadow voting” or “mirror voting.” Under shadow voting, the 
result of a vote at the annual general meeting is extrapolated across all shareowners to 
meet minimum voting requirements.

17 In the case of pooled investment funds, CFA Institute has taken the position that the funds should dis-
close to investors how they voted the shares of each company on behalf of the fund’s beneficiaries. Such 
disclosures are different from disclosing those votes to management and the board, in that the investment 
fund is disclosing its voting record to the beneficiaries on whose behalf it is acting.
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Cumulative Voting
Investors should determine whether shareowners are allowed to cast the cumulative 
number of votes allotted to their shares for one or a limited number of board nominees 
(which is cumulative voting).

Reasons for Determining How a Company Handles  
Cumulative Voting

Cumulative voting allows shareholders to concentrate their voting power behind one 
board candidate, and is seen as a shareowner-friendly voting structure to enhance the vot-
ing power of minority shareowners. 

Implications for Investors
The ability to use cumulative voting enables shareowners to vote in a manner that enhances 
the likelihood that their preferred candidates are elected to the board.

Things to Consider
In evaluating how a company handles cumulative voting, investors should consider 
whether the company has a significant minority shareowner group, such as a founding 
family, that might be able to use cumulative voting to elect board members who represent 
its specific interests at the expense of the interests of other shareowners.

Where to find information about whether a company permits cumulative voting:

The articles of organization and bylaws frequently provide information about how a com-
pany regards shareowner initiatives and rights. The prospectus that a listed company must 
file with the local regulator typically will describe the circumstances under which share-
owners can exercise their voting rights.

In the United States, investors also may look to Form 8-A, which listed companies must 
file with the SEC, for a description of the rights afforded a company’s common shares.

Voting for Other Corporate Changes
Investors should determine whether shareowners have the right to approve changes to 
corporate structures and policies that may alter the relationship between shareowners 
and the company.
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Reasons for Considering Shareowner Input on  
Corporate Changes

Changes to certain corporate structures have the ability to affect the value, ownership 
percentage, and rights associated with the company’s securities. Among the issues share-
owners should review is the ability of shareowners to effect changes to the following com-
pany aspects:

■	 articles of organization,

■	 bylaws,

■	 governance structures,

■	 voting rights and mechanisms,

■	 poison pills,

■	 change-in-control provisions, 

■	 board membership (by contesting board elections or recommending directors), and

■	 M&As and liquidation of assets.

Implications for Investors
Certain changes to the company’s bylaws or articles of organization can affect the 
shareowner’s interests in the company. For example, the introduction or modifica-
tion of an antitakeover mechanism might make a takeover too expensive for potential 
acquirers to consider, thereby denying shareowners full market value for their shares. 
Similarly, providing large quantities of stock options to management and employees 
may dilute the value of shares held by existing shareowners while redistributing com-
pany resources to insiders without shareowner approval. Shareowners should consider 
whether such option grants place too much emphasis on short-term goals without 
regard for long-term risks.

Things to Consider
In reviewing which issues require shareowner approval, investors should determine 
whether shareowners
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■	 have an opportunity to vote on the sale of their company or a substantial portion of 
their company to a third-party buyer. Investors may wish to consider whether share-
owners have an opportunity to vote on significant acquisitions and divestitures that 
could increase or reduce annual revenues by 10% or more;

■	 have the right to vote on certain aspects of executive compensation (see the section 
“Executive Compensation”);

■	 have the right to vote against directors in director elections;

■	 have the right to approve a new antitakeover measure, or to remove or waive existing 
ones, and determine whether such measures are subject to periodic review and reten-
tion by shareowners (see the section “Takeover Defenses”);18

■	 have the ability to periodically reconsider and revote on rules that require super-majority 
voting to revise the company’s bylaws, articles of organization, or other governance doc-
uments. Although these super-majority requirements may have been useful in making 
unwanted changes more difficult at a particular time in the company’s development, they 
may not serve the same purpose in light of the company’s evolution. Such provisions can 
make even changes overwhelmingly supported by shareowners difficult to enact;

■	 have the ability to vote for changes to the following company elements:

o	 articles of organization,

o	 bylaws,

o	 governance structures, and

o	 voting rights and mechanisms;

■	 Investors should review the following issues to determine whether, and under what 
conditions, shareowners may vote on 

o	 share-repurchase programs, particularly if their purpose is to fund share-based 
compensation grants (see the section “Share-Repurchase and Price-Stabilization 
Programs”);

o	 amendments, additions to, or revocation of corporate charters and bylaws; and

o	 issuance of new capital stock, including common shares and instruments that 
convert into common shares.

18 Antitakeover measures have the potential to benefit shareowners as well as entrench management, so 
investors should know the details of any antitakeover measures
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Where to find information about whether certain corporate changes require shareowner 
approval:

Companies often provide information to shareowners about specific issues requiring a 
vote as part of their disclosures related to the annual general meeting or as part of disclo-
sures related to a special meeting of shareowners.

A company typically will provide information about which issues require shareowner 
approval in the company’s bylaws and articles of organization. These documents also pro-
vide information about whether management and the board can fill any vacancies without 
shareowner approval.

Shareowner Proposals
Shareowner proposals are generally of two types: board nominations and resolutions. In all 
cases of shareowner proposals, one issue is whether the proposal is binding or advisory only.

Shareowner-Sponsored Board Nominations
Investors should determine whether and in what circumstances shareowners are  
permitted to recommend director nominees to the board or place their own nominees on 
the proxy ballot.

Reasons for Determining Whether Shareowners  
Can Propose Board Nominees

The ability to nominate one or more individuals to the board is a right that shareowners 
have in some markets but not in others. This “proxy access” allows shareowners who meet 
certain ownership thresholds to propose one or two directors on the annual general meet-
ing ballot. When a board and management fail to remedy existing problems and improve 
the company’s performance, shareowners may use this power to nominate their own candi-
date to the board to ensure that at least one nominee is independent of the existing board.

Implications for Investors
If shareowners have the right to nominate board members, they have the ability to force 
the board or management to take steps to address shareowner concerns.
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Things to Consider
In evaluating whether shareowners can propose nominees to the board, investors should 
determine

■	 in what circumstances shareowners have the right to nominate board members; and

■	 how the company handles contested board elections. At some companies, particularly 
in the United States and Canada, a single vote cast in favor of a nominee is sufficient 
for an uncontested nominee to get elected to the board. In cases in which the nomina-
tions are contested by shareowners, different rules for determining winners may apply.

Where to find information about the ability of shareowners to nominate individuals for 
the board:

The notice of the annual general meeting will provide information related to the election 
of board members. Also, the articles of organization and bylaws frequently provide infor-
mation about how a company regards shareowner initiatives and rights. In the United 
States, investors may look to the company’s annual proxy statement.

Shareowner-Sponsored Resolutions
Investors should determine whether and in what circumstances shareowners may submit 
proposals for consideration at the company’s annual general meeting.

Reasons for Determining Whether Shareowners  
Can Propose Corporate Initiatives

Investors need to understand what they can do if the board and management fail to 
remedy existing problems or improve the company’s performance. Investors also need to 
understand the extent to which outside institutions or individuals with specific interests 
or biases are able to influence company activity. The ability to propose needed changes can 
prevent erosion of shareowner value.

Implications for Investors
The right to propose initiatives for consideration at the company’s annual general meeting 
is one way for shareowners to send a message that they do not like the way the board or 
management is handling one or more company matters. If the proposal receives an over-
whelming number of votes, it could pressure the board and management either to make 
the changes called for or, if they fail to do so, to justify their decision.
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Things to Consider
In evaluating the ability of shareowners to propose changes for the company, investors 
should determine whether

■	 the company requires a simple majority, a two-thirds majority, or some other  
super-majority vote to pass a shareowner resolution. The company may require a sim-
ple majority vote to pass board- or management-sponsored initiatives;

■	 initiatives proposed by shareowners benefit the long-term interests of all shareowners 
or whether they represent the narrow interests of those making the proposals; and

■	 any “advance notice provision” exists in the jurisdiction that would require a  
shareowner to give notice of a proposal a certain amount of time before an annual 
meeting. Often such advance notice has to do with the nomination of directors, and 
such notice requirements call on a shareowner to give notice of such proposals to the 
company months before the annual meeting.

Where to find information about shareowner authority to propose voting initiatives:

A company’s articles of organization and bylaws frequently provide information about how 
a company regards shareowner-sponsored proposals. In the United States, shareowners may 
look to the annual proxy statement for information about how to submit proxy initiatives.

Advisory or Binding Shareowner Proposals
Investors should determine whether the board and management are required to  
implement proposals that shareowners approve.

Reasons for Determining Whether Shareowner Proposals  
Are Binding

Unless the company is required to implement an initiative that shareowners have approved, 
the board and management may ignore those and other shareowner concerns.

Implications for Investors
Requirements that the board and management implement approved shareowner- 
sponsored initiatives could pressure the board and management to act as approved by the 
general meeting.
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Things to Consider
When reviewing the company’s rules regarding shareowner initiatives, investors should 
determine whether

■	 the company has implemented or ignored approved shareowner-sponsored proposals 
in the past;

■	 the company requires a super-majority vote to approve changes to its bylaws and arti-
cles of organization; and

■	 national regulatory agencies have pressured companies to act on the terms of approved 
shareowner initiatives.

Where to find information about the enforceability of shareowner-sponsored proposals:

The articles of organization and bylaws typically provide information about whether  
shareowner initiatives are binding and, if so, the size of the majority vote needed to 
enforce the measure. Investors also may look to the regulatory agency in the jurisdiction 
where the company is headquartered to determine whether the agency has taken steps to 
enforce shareowner initiatives in other cases.

Other Shareowner-Rights Issues
Issues discussed here include shareowner legal rights, takeover defenses, and the actions 
of other shareowners.

Shareowner Legal Rights
Investors should determine whether the corporate governance code and other legal stat-
utes of the jurisdiction in which the company is headquartered permit shareowners to 
take legal action or seek regulatory action to protect and enforce their ownership rights.

Reasons for Determining the Legal Remedies Available  
to Shareowners

In situations in which the company has failed to fully recognize shareowner rights, share-
owners may have to turn to the courts or national regulators to enforce their rights of 
ownership.
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Implications for Investors
The legal rights of shareowners in a given jurisdiction determine whether or not they have 
legal redress if their rights as shareowners are compromised.

Things to Consider
When reviewing the local governance code and statutes regarding legal and regulatory 
actions, investors should determine whether

■	 local legal statutes permit shareowners to take derivative legal actions, which permit 
shareowners to initiate legal actions against management or board members on behalf 
of the company and, if so, what conditions must be met for them to take such actions;

■	 the regulator in the local jurisdiction where the company is headquartered has taken 
action in other cases to enforce shareowner rights or to prevent the denial of share-
owner rights; and

■	 shareowners, either individually or as a class, are permitted to take legal action or seek 
regulatory action to enforce fraud charges against management or the board.

Where to find information about legal and regulatory relief for shareowners:

The regulator in the local market of the company’s headquarters may provide information 
about the remedies available to shareowners in a variety of legal and regulatory matters.

Takeover Defenses
Shareowners should carefully evaluate the structure of an existing or proposed 
takeover defense and analyze how it could affect the value of shares in a normal market 
environment and in the event of a takeover bid.

Reasons for Reviewing Disclosures Relating  
to Takeover Defenses

Such disclosures should provide shareowners with information about the situations in 
which takeover defenses could be used to counter a hostile bid. Examples of takeover 
defenses include golden parachutes, cross-shareholdings, caps on voting rights, poison 
pills, and greenmail.19

19 Greenmail is a premium paid by the object of a hostile takeover bid to the entity making that bid in return 
for an agreement that the bidding entity will halt its takeover bid for a certain period.

WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG


63© 2018 CFA INSTITUTE. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

Shareowner Rights

Implications for Investors

By forcing an acquiring entity to deal directly with management and the board, take-
over defenses may reduce the potential for the acquirer to succeed, even in situations that 
would benefit shareowners. Defenses against takeovers also may cause investors to dis-
count the value of the company’s shares in normal trading because of the conditions and 
barriers they create.

Things to Consider

When reviewing a company’s antitakeover measures, investors should

■	 inquire whether the company is required to receive shareowner approval for such 
measures before implementation. Each company is likely to structure antitakeover 
measures differently. In some cases, investors may find that the board is permitted to 
implement an antitakeover measure subject to approval by shareowners within a set 
period of time. Others may not require shareowner approval at all;

■	 inquire whether the company has received any formal acquisition overtures during the 
past two years and whether takeover defenses were used;

■	 inquire as to all the details regarding those mechanisms and whether they can vote for 
their removal, amendment, or waiver;

■	 consider the possibility that the board and management will use the company’s cash 
and available credit lines to pay a hostile bidder to forgo a takeover. In general, share-
owners should take steps to prevent the board from carrying out such actions. If the 
company agrees to such payments, shareowners should review any publicly available 
information about the terms of such greenmail payments;

■	 consider whether, in some cases, change-in-control issues are likely to invoke the 
interest of a national or local government, which might then pressure the seller to 
change the terms of a proposed acquisition or merger. In such cases, the investor is 
unlikely to find specific government directives decreeing such defenses, although 
investors may find indications about the likelihood of such actions by examining the 
government’s past actions relating to the company or relating to other companies in 
similar situations;



WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG64

The Corporate Governance of Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors

■	 consider whether change-in-control provisions will trigger large severance packages 
and other payments to company executives; and

■	 understand whether the company is involved in any cross-shareholding arrangements 
with other companies that may function as a defense against hostile takeover bids 
from unwanted third parties.

Where to find information about takeover provisions:

A company’s articles of organization are the most likely places to find information about 
existing takeover defenses. Newly created antitakeover provisions may or may not require 
shareowner approval. The company may have to provide information to its shareowners 
about amendments to existing defenses.

Actions of Other Shareowners

Investors should understand that the actions of other shareowners are governance issues 
they need to consider with the same degree of interest as they do the actions of the board 
and management.

Reasons for Reviewing Disclosures Relating  
to Other Shareowner Actions

The actions of other shareowners may have a great deal of influence on the value of a com-
pany’s shares. Activist investors or investor groups with significant stakes in companies 
often have the power to influence corporate decisions and sometimes to replace board 
members and even management. Shareowners should pay attention to the actions of the 
owners of significant company’s shares to determine whether their actions are consistent 
with the creation of long-term shareowner value.

Implications for Investors

Investors may see their shareholdings diluted, may see a shareowner push for changes 
they do not agree would be in the best interests of the company, or may get ideas from 
activists about strategies that investors may want to apply at other companies in which 
they are invested.
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Things to Consider

When reviewing the activities of other shareowners, investors should understand the 
motivations behind the actions of any activist investor: Are the motivations short term in 
nature or intended to enhance the creation of long-term value?

Where to find information about the actions of other shareowners:

Investors can often find this information in the required filings by both a company and 
its investors, but will likely have to keep track of financial media in order to obtain “real-
time” information about the activities of other shareowners. 
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Appendix A. Existing Corporate 
Governance Codes

Australia

Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, www.asx.com.au/documents/asx-
compliance/cgc-principles-and-recommendations-3rd-edn.pdf

Austria

Austrian Code of Corporate Governance, January 2015, www.corporate-governance.at/
uploads/u/corpgov/files/code/corporate-governance-code-012015.pdf

Bahrain

The Corporate Governance Code of the Kingdom of Bahrain, www.complinet.com/cbb/display/
display.html?rbid=3274&record_id=1

Bangladesh

The Code of Corporate Governance for Bangladesh, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code.pdf

Belgium

Corporate Governance Committee, Belgian Corporate Governance Code, 2009, 
https://www.corporategovernancecommittee.be/sites/default/files/generated/files/page/
corporategovukcode2009.pdf

Brazil

Brazilian Corporate Governance Code, www.ibri.com.br/Upload/Arquivos/novidades/3877_
GT_Interagentes_Brazilian_Corporate_Governance_Code_Listed_Companies.pdf

Novo Mercado Listing Regulation http://www.bmfbovespa.com.br/lumis/portal/file/
fileDownload.jsp?fileId=8AA8D0975ECA76A9015EE8D90B9F3D11 
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Bulgaria

Bulgarian Code for Corporate Governance, 2012, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/codeks_ 
bulgaria_feb2012_en.pdf

China

China Securities Regulatory Commission, Code of Corporate Governance for Listed 
Companies in China, 2001, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code_en.pdf (English version)

Cyprus

Cyprus Stock Exchange, Corporate Governance Code, 2014, www.ebrd.com/documents/
ogc/cyprus-code.pdf

Czech Republic

Czech Securities Commission, Corporate Governance Code Based on the OECD Principles, 
2004, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/czech_code_2004_en.pdf

Denmark

Recommendation for Corporate Governance, 2018, https://corporategovernance.dk/gaeldende- 
anbefalinger-god-selskabsledelse

Egypt

Guide to Corporate Governance Regulations and Standards in Egypt, 2011, www.ecgi.org/
codes/documents/code_egypt_2011_englishtranslation2016.pdf

Finland

Finnish Corporate Governance Code, 2015, https://cgfinland.fi/wp-content/uploads/
sites/6/2015/10/hallinnointikoodi-2015eng.pdf

France

Corporate Governance Code of Listed Corporations, http://consultation.codeafepmedef.
fr/z_docs/corporate_governance_code_EN.pdf

Germany

German Corporate Governance Code, 2017, www.dcgk.de//files/dcgk/usercontent/en/
download/code/170214_Code.pdf

Appendix A. Existing Corporate Governance Codes

http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/codeks_bulgaria_feb2012_en.pdf
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/codeks_bulgaria_feb2012_en.pdf
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code_en.pdf
http://www.ebrd.com/documents/ogc/cyprus-code.pdf
http://www.ebrd.com/documents/ogc/cyprus-code.pdf
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/czech_code_2004_en.pdf
https://corporategovernance.dk/gaeldende-anbefalinger-god-selskabsledelse
https://corporategovernance.dk/gaeldende-anbefalinger-god-selskabsledelse
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code_egypt_2011_englishtranslation2016.pdf
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code_egypt_2011_englishtranslation2016.pdf
https://cgfinland.fi/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2015/10/hallinnointikoodi-2015eng.pdf
https://cgfinland.fi/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2015/10/hallinnointikoodi-2015eng.pdf
http://consultation.codeafepmedef.fr/z_docs/corporate_governance_code_EN.pdf
http://consultation.codeafepmedef.fr/z_docs/corporate_governance_code_EN.pdf
http://www.dcgk.de//files/dcgk/usercontent/en/download/code/170214_Code.pdf
http://www.dcgk.de//files/dcgk/usercontent/en/download/code/170214_Code.pdf


WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG68

The Corporate Governance of Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors

Greece

Hellenic Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies, 2013, www.ecgi.org/codes/
documents/hellenic_cg_code_oct2013_en.pdf

Hong Kong

Hong Kong Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report, http://en-rules.
hkex.com.hk/net_file_store/new_rulebooks/h/k/HKEX4476_3828_VER10.pdf

Iceland

Corporate Governance Guidelines, http://vi.is/%C3%BAtg%C3%A1fa/sk%C3%BDrslur/
Corporate_Governance_Guidelines_5th_edition.pdf

India

Securities and Exchange Board of India, Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements, 
Regulations, 2015, www.sebi.gov.in/sebi_data/attachdocs/1441284401427.pdf

Indonesia

The Indonesia Corporate Governance Manual, www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/64185f0042c
c3ab0b145fd384c61d9f7/Indonesia_CG_Manual_Feb2014.pdf?MOD=AJPERES

Ireland

The Irish Corporate Governance Annex, www.ise.ie/Products-Services/Sponsors-and-
Advisors/Irish-Corporate-Governance-Annex.pdf

Italy

Corporate Governance Code, 2015, www.borsaitaliana.it/borsaitaliana/regolamenti/corporate 
governance/code2015.en.pdf

Jamaica

PSOJ Corporate Governance Code, 2016, https://psoj.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/
PSOJ-CG-Code-2016-Final-11302016.pdf

Japan

Japan’s Corporate Governance Code, www.fsa.go.jp/en/news/2018/follow-up/20180330-1/02.pdf
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Kuwait

Capital Market Authority, Resolution No. (25) of 2013 of the CMA Board of Commissioners 
Concerning Issuing Corporate Governance Regulations for Companies Regulated by  
Capital Markets Authority, https://www.cma.gov.kw/en/web/cma/cma-board-releases/-/
cmaboardreleases/detail/320009

Malaysia

Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance, www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/
cg/mccg2017.pdf

Mauritius

The National Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, 2016, www.nccg.mu/sites/default/
files/files/the-national-code-of-corporate-governance-for-mauritius_2016.pdf

Mexico

Corporate Governance Code for Mexico, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/mexico_code_en.pdf

Netherlands

The Revised Dutch Corporate Governance Code, 2016, www.mccg.nl/?page=3779

New Zealand

NZX Corporate Governance Code, 2017, https://www.nzx.com/files/attachments/257864.
pdf

Nigeria

Financial Report Council of Nigeria, National Code of Corporate Governance, 2016, www.
ecgi.global/download/file/fid/14076

Norway

The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, www.oslobors.no/ob_eng/Oslo-Boers/ 
Listing/Shares-equity-certificates-and-rights-to-shares/Oslo-Boers-and-Oslo-Axess/
Corporate-governance-CG/The-Norwegian-Code-of-Practice-for-Corporate-
Governance

Appendix A. Existing Corporate Governance Codes

https://www.cma.gov.kw/en/web/cma/cma-board-releases/-/cmaboardreleases/detail/320009
https://www.cma.gov.kw/en/web/cma/cma-board-releases/-/cmaboardreleases/detail/320009
http://www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/cg/mccg2017.pdf
http://www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/cg/mccg2017.pdf
http://www.nccg.mu/sites/default/files/files/the-national-code-of-corporate-governance-for-mauritius_2016.pdf
http://www.nccg.mu/sites/default/files/files/the-national-code-of-corporate-governance-for-mauritius_2016.pdf
http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/mexico_code_en.pdf
http://www.mccg.nl/?page=3779
https://www.nzx.com/files/attachments/257864.pdf
https://www.nzx.com/files/attachments/257864.pdf
http://www.ecgi.global/download/file/fid/14076
http://www.ecgi.global/download/file/fid/14076
http://www.oslobors.no/ob_eng/Oslo-Boers/Listing/Shares-equity-certificates-and-rights-to-shares/Oslo-Boers-and-Oslo-Axess/Corporate-governance-CG/The-Norwegian-Code-of-Practice-for-Corporate-Governance
http://www.oslobors.no/ob_eng/Oslo-Boers/Listing/Shares-equity-certificates-and-rights-to-shares/Oslo-Boers-and-Oslo-Axess/Corporate-governance-CG/The-Norwegian-Code-of-Practice-for-Corporate-Governance
http://www.oslobors.no/ob_eng/Oslo-Boers/Listing/Shares-equity-certificates-and-rights-to-shares/Oslo-Boers-and-Oslo-Axess/Corporate-governance-CG/The-Norwegian-Code-of-Practice-for-Corporate-Governance
http://www.oslobors.no/ob_eng/Oslo-Boers/Listing/Shares-equity-certificates-and-rights-to-shares/Oslo-Boers-and-Oslo-Axess/Corporate-governance-CG/The-Norwegian-Code-of-Practice-for-Corporate-Governance


WWW.CFAINSTITUTE.ORG70

The Corporate Governance of Listed Companies: A Manual for Investors

Oman

Capital Market Authority, Code of Corporate Governance for Public Listed Companies, 2016, 
https://cma.gov.om/Home/CircularFileDownlad/5308

Pakistan

Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 (Amended 2017), www.secp.
gov.pk/document/psc-rules-as-amended-upto-april-21-2017/?wpdmdl=27850

Peru

Comisión Nacional Supervisora de Empresas y Valores, Principos de Buen Gobierno para 
las Sociedades Peruanas [Principles of Good Governance for Peruvian Companies], 2002, 
www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/code_jul2002_en.pdf (English version)

Philippines 

Code of Corporate Governance for Publicly-Listed Companies, 2016, www.sec.gov.ph/ 
wp-content/uploads/2016/12/2016_memo_circular_no.19.pdf

Poland

Best Practices for GPW Listed Companies, 2016, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/poland_
best_practice_for_GPW_listed_companies_2016.pdf

Qatar

Qatar Financial Markets Authority, Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market, 2017, https://www.qfma.org.qa/English/RulesRegulations/
RulesDox/Governance_Code%20for%20Companies_and_Legal%20Entities_Listed_
on_the_Main_Market.pdf

Romania

Bucharest Stock Exchange, Bucharest Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Code, 2009, www.
ecgi.org/codes/documents/bucharest_se_code_ jan2009_en.pdf

Russia

Corporate Governance Code, http://www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/final_code_english.pdf
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Saudi Arabia

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Capital Market Authority, Corporate Governance Regulations, 
https://cma.org.sa/en/RulesRegulations/Regulations/Documents/CGRegulations_en.pdf
Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority, Banking Rules and Regulations, Principles of 
Corporate Governance for Banks Operating in Saudi Arabia, http://www.sama.gov.sa/en-US/
Laws/BankingRules/Corporate%20Governance%20%2024-2-2014%20(%D8%A7%D9
%84%D9%86%D8%B3%D8%AE%D8%A9%20%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%86%D9%87
%D8%A7%D8%A6%D9%8A%D8%A9).pdf

Sierra Leon

Draft Code of Corporate Governance for Sierra Leone, www.cac.gov.sl/IFC%20CAC%20
code%20Nov%202017.pdf

South Africa

King IV, Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016, https://c.ymcdn.com/
sites/www.iodsa.co.za/resource/resmgr/king_iv/King_IV_Report/IoDSA_King_IV_
Report_-_WebVe.pdf

Spain

Good Governance Code of Listed Companies, www.cnmv.es/DocPortal/Publicaciones/
CodigoGov/Good_Governanceen.pdf

Slovenia

Slovenian Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies, 2016 (Updated 2018), www.ecgi.
global/code/slovenian-corporate-governance-code-listed-companies-2016-updated-2018

Sri Lanka

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL); Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC), Rules on Corporate Governance for Listed Companies, July 
2006, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/sri_lanka_draftcode_july2006.pdf

Sweden

The Swedish Corporate Governance Code, www.corporategovernanceboard.se/the-code/
current-code
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Switzerland

Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance, www.ecgi.org/codes/documents/
swiss_code_26sep2014_en.pdf

Taiwan

Financial Supervisory Commission, Corporate Governance Roadmap, 2018–2020, http://
cgc.twse.com.tw/img/Corporate%20Governance%20Roadmap(2018_2020).pdf

Thailand

Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies, 2017, http://www.cgthailand.org/ 
microsite/documents/cgcode.pdf#page=67

Turkey

Turkey Corporate Governance Code, www.rna-cs.com/turkey-corporate-governance-code/

Ukraine

Ukraine Corporate Governance Manual, http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/ 
175611468313520375/Ukraine-Corporate-governance-manual

United Arab Emirates

The Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Resolution No. (7 R.M) of 2016 Concerning the 
Standards of Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding Companies, www.
sca.gov.ae/mservices/api/regulations/GetRegulationByIdAsPdf/114

United Kingdom

Corporate Governance Code, 2018 (tailored to small and mid-cap companies), www.theqca.
com/shop/guides/

Financial Reporting Council, The UK Corporate Governance Code, https://www.frc.org.uk/
getattachment/ca7e94c4-b9a9-49e2-a824-ad76a322873c/UK-Corporate-Governance-
Code-April-2016.pdf

United States

Investor Stewardship Group (ISG), Corporate Governance Principles for US Listed 
Companies, 2017, https://isgframework.org/corporate-governance-principles/
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Appendix B. Stewardship Codes

Australia

FSC Standard 23: Principles of Internal Governance and Asset Stewardship, 2017, www.fsc.
org.au/_entity/annotation/82bbc3f8-316c-e711-8103-c4346bc5977c

Brazil

AMEC Stewardship Code, https://en.amecbrasil.org.br/stewardship/amec-stewardship-code/

Canada

Canadian Coalition for Good Governance Stewardship Principles, 2017, https://admin. 
yourwebdepartment.com/site/ccgg/assets/pdf/stewardship_principles_public.pdf

Denmark

Stewardship Code, The Committee on Corporate Governance, 2016, https://corporate 
governance.dk/sites/default/files/180116_stewardship_code.pdf

European Union

EFAMA Stewardship Code, 2017–2018, www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/EFAMA%20
Stewardship%20Code-2018.pdf

Hong Kong

Principles of Responsible Ownership, https://www.sfc.hk/web/EN/files/ER/PDF/
Principles%20of%20Responsible%20Ownership_Eng.pdf

International

ICGN Global Stewardship Principles, http://icgn.flpbks.com/icgn-global-stewardship- 
principles/#p=1

Italy

Italian Stewardship Principles, 2016, www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/Italian%20code.pdf

Japan

Principles for Responsible Institutional Investors, Japan’s Stewardship Code, 2017, www.fsa.
go.jp/en/refer/councils/stewardship/20170529/01.pdf
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https://corporategovernance.dk/sites/default/files/180116_stewardship_code.pdf
https://corporategovernance.dk/sites/default/files/180116_stewardship_code.pdf
http://www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/EFAMA%20Stewardship%20Code-2018.pdf
http://www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/EFAMA%20Stewardship%20Code-2018.pdf
https://www.sfc.hk/web/EN/files/ER/PDF/Principles%20of%20Responsible%20Ownership_Eng.pdf
https://www.sfc.hk/web/EN/files/ER/PDF/Principles%20of%20Responsible%20Ownership_Eng.pdf
http://icgn.flpbks.com/icgn-global-stewardship-principles/#p=1
http://icgn.flpbks.com/icgn-global-stewardship-principles/#p=1
http://www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/Italian%20code.pdf
http://www.fsa.go.jp/en/refer/councils/stewardship/20170529/01.pdf
http://www.fsa.go.jp/en/refer/councils/stewardship/20170529/01.pdf
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Kenya

Stewardship Code for Institutional Investors, 2017, www.manifest.co.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2017/06/Stewardship-Code-for-Institutional-Investors-Gazetted.pdf

Malaysia

Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors, www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/
cg/mcii_140627.pdf

Netherlands

Dutch Stewardship Code, 2017, www.eumedion.nl/en/public/knowledgenetwork/best-
practices/2017-09-consultation-document-stewardship-code.pdf

Singapore

Singapore Stewardship Principles for Responsible Investors, 2016,  www.stewardshipasia.com.
sg/sites/default/files/Section%202%20-%20SSP%20(Full%20Document).pdf

South Africa

Institute of Directors Southern Africa, Code for Responsible Investing in South Africa, 2011, 
https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.iodsa.co.za/resource/resmgr/crisa/crisa_19_july_2011.pdf

South Korea 

Korea Stewardship Code, https://oasiscm.com/about-us/shareholder-stewardship/korea- 
stewardship-code/

Switzerland

Swiss Stewardship Code, www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/LD_130121_E.pdf

Taiwan

Stewardship Principles for Institutional Investors, http://cgc.twse.com.tw/static/20160630/ 
0000000054a7dce70155a09e021f001c_Stewardship%20Principles%20for%20
Institutional%20Investors-20160630.pdf

Thailand

Thai Investment Governance Code for Institutional Investors, 2017, www.cgthailand.org/
microsite/ii_en.html
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United Kingdom

Financial Reporting Council, The UK Stewardship Code, 2012, www.icgn.org/sites/
default/files/UK_Code.pdf

United States

Investor Stewardship Group, Stewardship Framework for Institutional Investors, https://
isgframework.org/stewardship-principles/

http://www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/UK_Code.pdf
http://www.icgn.org/sites/default/files/UK_Code.pdf
https://isgframework.org/stewardship-principles
https://isgframework.org/stewardship-principles
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Appendix C. Corporate Governance 
Studies and Research

“2016 Board Practices Report: A transparent look at the work or the board,” Deloitte, 
2016, www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/center-for-board-effectiveness/articles/us-board-
practices-report-transparent-look.html

“2016 Corporate Governance Best Practices Report,” Korn Ferry, 2016, www.haygroup.
com/downloads/ca/2016%20Corporate%20Governance%20Best%20Practices%20
Report.pdf

“The Big Thumb on the Scale: An Overview of the Proxy Advisory Industry,” James 
Copland, David F. Larcker, and Brian Tayan, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.
cfm?abstract_id=3188174

“Canadian Corporate Governance: A Divergent Path from Other Anglo-American Models?” 
Fenner L. Stewart, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3173757

“Corporate Governance 2.0,” Guhan Subramanian, 2015, https://hbr.org/2015/03/
corporate-governance-2-0

“Corporate Governance and Control,” Marco Becht, Patrick Bolton, and Ailsa Roell, 
2002, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=343461

“Corporate Governance and Earnings Management,” Sonda Marrakchi Chtourou, Jean Bedard, 
and Lucie Chtourou, 2001, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=275053

“Corporate Governance and Equity Prices,” Paul A. Gompers, Joy L. Ishii, Andrew 
Metrick, 2001, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=278920

“Corporate Governance and Firm Performance,” Lawrence D. Brown and Marcus L. 
Caylor, 2004, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=586423

“Corporate Governance, Earnings Quality and Idiosyncratic Crash Risk During the 
2007–2008 Financial Crisis,” Paulo Silva, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.
cfm?abstract_id=3180750

“Corporate Governance—Indian Perspective,” Ruchi Kulkani and Balasundram Maniam, 
2015, www.ijtef.org/papers/399-A10004.pdf

“Corporate Governance of Company Groups in Latin America,” OECD, 2014, www.
oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/corporate-governance-of-company-groups-in-latin-
america_9789264241725-en
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“Does Corporate Governance Predict Firms’ Market Values? Evidence from Korea,” 
Bernard S. Black, Hasung Jang, and Woochan Kim, 2013, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/
papers.cfm?abstract_id=311275

“The History of Corporate Governance,” Brian R. Cheffins, 2013, https://papers.ssrn.
com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1975404

“Horizontal Shareholding and Antitrust Policy,” Fiona M. Scott Morton and Herbert 
Hovenkamp, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3046203

“The Impact of Corporate Governance Index and Earnings Management on Firms’ 
Performance: A Comparative Study on the Islamic versus Conventional Financial 
Institutions in Pakistan,” Saira Ashfaq, Ghulam Jujtaba Kayani, and Muhammad Ali 
Saeed, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3181038

“The Impact of Corporate Governance on Operational Performance of Listed Companies In 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand, Piyanat Thunputtadom, Tharinee Pongsupatt, Sillapaporn 
Srijunpetch,  Titaporn Sincharoonsak,  Montree Chuaychoo,  and  Suree Bosakoranut, 
2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3185385

“The Importance of Inferior Voting Rights in Dual-Class Firms,” Dov Solomon, 2018, 
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3179375

 “Incorporating Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Factors into Fixed Income 
Investment,” Georg Inderst and Fiona Stewart, World Bank Group Publication, 2018, 
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3175830

“Industrial Foundations as Long-Term Owners,” Steen Thomsen, Thomas Poulsen, Christa 
Borsting, and Johan Kuhn, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3188568

“The Influence of Board Chairs on Director Engagement: A Case-Based Exploration of 
Boardroom Decision-Making,” Pieter-Jan Bezemer, Gavin J. Nicholson, and Amedeo 
Pugliese, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3188566

“International Corporate Governance,” Diane K. Denis and John J. McConnell, 2003, 
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=320121

“Investor Protection and Corporate Governance,” Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopez de 
Silanes, Andrei Shleifer, and Robert W. Vishny, 2000, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/
papers.cfm?abstract_id=183908

“Islamic Corporate Governance: Risk-Sharing and Islamic Preferred Shares,” 
Mohammad Al-Suhaibani and Nader Naifar, 2014, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.
cfm?abstract_id=3189232

“The Long-Term Effects of Hedge Fund Activism,” Lucian A. Bebchuk, Alon Brav, and 
Wei Jiang, 2015, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2291577
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“Multi-Class Stock and the Modern Corporation: A View from the Left (Coast) on 
Governance Misalignment and the Public Company,” David J. Berger, 2018, https://www.
sec.gov/spotlight/investor-advisory-committee-2012/berger-remarks-iac-030917.pdf

“National Corporate Governance, GMI Ratings and Earnings Management: A Country 
Level Study,” Moataz El-Helaly, Nermeen F. Shehata, and Reem El-Sherif, 2018, https://
papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3178165

“OECD Corporate Governance Factbook,” OECD, 2017, www.oecd.org/daf/ca/
Corporate-Governance-Factbook.pdf

“Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes, Corporate Governance Country 
Assessment, Russian Federation,” World Bank, 2013, http://documents.worldbank.org/
curated/en/486811468293408241/pdf/823220REVISED00RMAT0final019Mar2014.pdf 

“Reputation Capital of Directorships and Audit Quality,” Antti Fredriksson, Anila Kiran, 
and Lasse Niemi, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3178727

“The Role of the Board in Turbulent Times: Avoiding Shareholder Activism,” Damien Park 
and Matteo Tonello, 2009, http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1390340

“Russell Reynolds Global and Regional Trends in Corporate Governance 2018,” Jack 
O’Kelley III, Anthony Goodman, and Melissa Martin, 2018, www.russellreynolds.com/
insights/thought-leadership/global-and-regional-trends-in-corporate-governance-for-2018

“The Second Wave of Hedge Fund Activism,” C. N. V. Krishnan, Frank Partnoy, and 
Randall S. Thomas, 2016, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2589992

“Toward Relative Corporate Governance Regimes: Rethinking Concentrated Ownership 
Structures around the World,” Leon Yehuda Anidjar, 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/
papers.cfm?abstract_id=3153995

“T. Rowe Price’s Investment Philosophy on Shareholder Activism,” Donna F. Anderson, 
2018, https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2018/06/18/t-rowe-prices-investment-philosophy-
on-shareholder-activism/

“The Untenable Case for Perpetual Dual-Class Stock,” Lucian A. Bebchuk and Kobi 
Kastiel, 2017, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2954630

“The New Paradigm: A Roadmap for an Implicit Corporate Governance Partnership 
between Corporations and Investors to Achieve Sustainable Long-Term Investment 
Growth.” Martin Lipton, 2018, http://www.wlrk.com/docs/thenewparadigm1.pdf 

“Using the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance—A Boardroom Perspective,” 
OECD, 2008, www.oecd.org/dataoecd/20/60/40823806.pdf

“What Matters in Corporate Governance?” Lucian A. Bebchuck, Alma Cohen, and 
Allen Ferrell, 2004, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=593423
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